

# EFEITOS IMUNOMODULATÓRIOS DE PEPTÍDEOS COM AÇÃO SEMELHANTE À IL-10 E AO TGF-β1 EM PROCESSOS INFLAMATÓRIOS

Aluna: Emília Rezende Vaz

Orientador: Dr. Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho

UBERLÂNDIA - MG 2018



## EFEITOS IMUNOMODULATÓRIOS DE PEPTÍDEOS COM AÇÃO SEMELHANTE À IL-10 E AO TGF-β1 EM PROCESSOS INFLAMATÓRIOS

Aluna: Emília Rezende Vaz

Orientador: Dr. Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho

Tese apresentada à Universidade Federal de Uberlândia como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do Título de Doutor em Genética e Bioquímica (Área Genética)

UBERLÂNDIA - MG 2018

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP) Sistema de Bibliotecas da UFU, MG, Brasil.

V393e 2018	<ul> <li>Vaz, Emília Rezende, 1989-</li> <li>Efeitos imunomodulatórios de peptídeos com ação semelhante à</li> <li>IL-10 E ao TGF-β1 em processos inflamatórios [recurso eletrônico] /</li> <li>Emília Rezende Vaz 2018.</li> </ul>
	Orientador: Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho. Tese (Doutorado) - Universidade Federal de Uberlândia, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Genética e Bioquímica. Modo de acesso: Internet. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.14393/ufu.te.2018.904 Inclui bibliografia. Inclui ilustrações.
	<ol> <li>Genética. 2. Bioquímica. 3. Peptídeos. 4. Imunoterapia.</li> <li>Inflamação. 6. Alergia. I. Goulart Filho, Luiz Ricardo, 1962</li> <li>II. Universidade Federal de Uberlândia. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Genética e Bioquímica. III. Título.</li> </ol>
	CDU: 577.1



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE UBERLÂNDIA

Coordenação do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Genética e Bioquímica Av. Pará 1720, Bloco 2E, Sala 244 - Bairro Umuarama, Uberlândia-MG, CEP 38400-902 Telefone: +55 (34) 3225-8438 - www.ppggb.ibtec.ufu.br - ppggb@ufu.br



ATA DE REUNIÃO

## Ata da defesa de TESE DE DOUTORADO junto ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Genética e Bioquímica do Instituto de Genética e Bioquímica da Universidade Federal de Uberlândia.

Defesa: Tese de Doutorado, nº02/2018- PPGGB

Local: Uberlândia/MG

Data: 26/07/2018 Hora de início: 08:30h

Discente: Emília Rezende Vaz

Matrícula: 11423GBI003

Título do Trabalho: Efeitos imunomodulatórios de peptídeos com ação semelhante à IL-10 e ao TGF-β1 em processos inflamatórios.

Área de concentração: Genética

Linha de pesquisa: Desenvolvimento e validação de peptídeos bioativos imunomodulatores.

Projeto de Pesquisa de vinculação: Análise de alergomas por meio das tecnologias de Phage Display e Espectrometria de Massas para o Controle de doenças Alérgicas Respiratórias.

Aos vinte e seis dias do mês de julho de dois mil e dezoito, às 08:30 horas no Anfiteatro 8C, Campus Umuarama da Universidade Federal de Uberlândia, reuniu-se a Banca Examinadora, designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-graduação em Genética e Bioquímica, assim composta: Prof. Dr. Luiz Gustavo Araujo Gardinassi, Prof. Dr. Marcelo de Franco, Prof. Dr. José Roberto Mineo, Drª. Carolina Salomão Lopes e Prof. Dr. Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho, orientador (a) do (a) candidato (a) e demais convidados presentes conforme lista de presença. Iniciando os trabalhos o (a) presidente da mesa, o Prof. Dr. Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho, apresentou a Comissão Examinadora e o (a) candidato (a), agradeceu a presença do público, e concedeu o (à) Discente a palavra para a exposição do seu trabalho. A duração da apresentação do (a) Discente e o tempo de arguição e resposta foram conforme as normas do Programa de Pós-graduação em Genética e Bioquímica. A seguir o senhor presidente concedeu a palavra, pela ordem sucessivamente, aos examinadores, que passaram a arguir o (a) candidato (a). Ultimada a arguição, que se desenvolveu dentro dos termos regimentais, a Banca, em sessão secreta, atribuiu os conceitos finais. Em face do resultado obtido, a Banca Examinadora considerou o (a) candidato (a): APROVADO (A). Esta defesa de Tese de Doutorado é parte dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do título de Doutor. O competente diploma será expedido após cumprimento dos demais requisitos, conforme as normas do Programa, a legislação pertinente e a regulamentação interna da UFU. Nada mais havendo a tratar foram encerrados os trabalhos às 12 horas e 30 minutos. Foi lavrada a presente ata que após lida e achada conforme foi assinada pela Banca Examinadora.



Documento assinado eletronicamente por Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho, Presidente de Comissão, em 26/07/2018, às 12:47, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015.



Documento assinado eletronicamente por **José Roberto Mineo**, **Membro de Comissão**, em 26/07/2018, às 12:48, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u>.

Documento assinado eletronicamente por carolina salomão lopes, Usuário Externo, em 26/07/2018,



SEI/UFU - 0525969 - Ata de Reunião

às 12:48, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539,</u> <u>de 8 de outubro de 2015</u>.



Documento assinado eletronicamente por **Luiz Gustavo Araujo Gardinassi**, **Usuário Externo**, em 26/07/2018, às 12:49, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u>.



Documento assinado eletronicamente por **MARCELO DE FRANCO**, **Usuário Externo**, em 26/07/2018, às 12:49, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539</u>, <u>de 8 de outubro de 2015</u>.



A autenticidade deste documento pode ser conferida no site <u>https://www.sei.ufu.br/sei/controlador\_externo.php?</u> <u>acao=documento\_conferir&id\_orgao\_acesso\_externo=0</u>, informando o código verificador **0525969** e o código CRC **B4F8E9A0**.

Referência: Processo nº 23117.039783/2018-47

SEI nº 0525969



## EFEITOS IMUNOMODULATÓRIOS DE PEPTÍDEOS COM AÇÃO SEMELHANTE À IL-10 E AO TGF-β1 EM PROCESSOS INFLAMATÓRIOS

ALUNA: Emília Rezende Vaz

## **COMISSÃO EXAMINADORA**

Presidente: Dr. Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho (Orientador)

Examinadores:

Dr. Marcelo de Franco Dr. Luiz Gustavo Araújo Gardinassi Dr. José Roberto Mineo Dra. Carolina Salomão Lopes

Data da Defesa: 26/07/2018

As sugestões da Comissão Examinadora e as Normas PGGB para o formato da Dissertação/Tese foram contempladas

(Dr. Luiz Ricardo Goulart Filho)

Dedico este trabalho...

Aos meus pais, José Jeronimo e Anália,

...meu porto seguro, minha base e responsáveis por tudo que me

tornei!

### **AGRADECIMENTOS**

Gostaria de agradecer a Deus por sempre guiar meus passos e me permitir finalizar mais esta etapa.

Aos meus pais por todo o apoio e amor. Por sempre serem um exemplo profissional e pessoal. Obrigada por serem meu porto seguro e sempre estarem ao meu lado. Este título é todo de vocês por acreditarem nos meus sonhos.

À toda minha família pelo suporte. Especialmente à minha irmã, Letícia e minha Tia Alba, pela amizade e carinho.

Ao Dney por estar ao meu lado, me ensinando que a vida é melhor quando temos alguém pra compartilhar todos os momentos. Obrigada por ter entrado na minha vida e ter feito ela mais leve e alegre. Obrigada por todo o apoio e companherismo.

À Patrícia Tieme por ter sido um anjo nos momentos que mais precisei, me acalmando quando era preciso e me incentivando sempre. Não tenho palavras para descrever todo o carinho que tenho por você.

À Larissa por ter se tornado mais que uma amiga, uma grande irmã de todos os momentos. Juntas temos muitas risadas, choros, conversas, treinos e muitos seriados.

À Aline e ao Victor por serem grandes companheiros em qualquer momento. Vocês são a minha dupla de vida! Com quem eu me sinto bem ao lado e com quem divido grandes momentos. Vocês fazem parte desta conquista.

À Tamiris por toda amizade e carinho. Um presente de Deus que a vida me deu e que eu agradeço imensamente todos os dias pela presença em minha vida.

Ao Galber por todo carinho e amizade. Obrigada por todos os momentos em que você me fez crescer profissionalmente e pessoalmente além momentos de descontração e apoio que temos compartilhado á vários anos. Quem me ajudou a ser uma borboleta e com quem divido não apenas a vida mas também o sonho de ver um projeto dar certo.

À Paula, minha mãe de coração, que sempre esteve ao meu lado me oferendo não apenas um colo, mas também, palavras de carinho que foram fundamentais para esta conquista. Que eu tenha puxado toda a sua beleza e carisma.

À Bruna por toda amizade construída. Com ela não tenho apenas uma amiga de profissão, mas uma conexão abençoada e guiada por Deus, quem sempre nos deixou muito próximas.

À Patrícia Terra por todo acolhimento ao longo de todos estes anos. Nós duas dividimos sempre muitos pensamentos e acontecimentos. Da Biomed pra vida!

Á Luciana por todos os conselhos e conversas, sempre com uma palavra de carinho que foram fundamentais nesta caminhada.

Ao Tafarel porque a vida quis que fôssemos muito mais que amigos. Obrigada por ter sido meu ombro e meu maior incentivador quando eu precisei. Com você compartilhei grandes momentos que estão guardados para sempre.

À todos os amigos com quem tive o prazer de trabalhar na Universidade de Salzburg. Em especial ao Lorenz Aglas por todo ensinamento e paciência. Olivia, com quem eu tive um encontro de almas, obrigada por tornar os meus dia mais leves. Ao Thanasis, meu eterno companheiro de laboratório, obrigada por todos os momentos de descontração. À Sara Ruber obrigada por ter me acolhido tão bem e por todas as palavras de suporte. Martin, você tem toda a minha gratidão por toda a paciência, carinho e amizade. À Melanie, obrigada por sempre ter uma palavra aconchegante e um carinho que me fizeram muito bem. Lisa, meu chouchou, obrigada por todos os momentos e carinho que foram muito importantes.

À Carina e ao Cristiano não apenas por terem se tornado grandes amigos, mas também por todo exemplo e ensinamento que vocês me proporcionaram. Além, das deliciosas comidas e excelentes passeios.

Aos meus amores, Josie Antonutti, Luciane Moreira e Brutolas, pela força nos momentos difíceis e pelos vários momentos de descontração. Obrigada por fazerem o meu perído em Salzburg melhor.

À Jessica e Hebréia por me fazerem tão bem. Vocês me transmitem uma leveza fundamental para deixar os meus dias mais felizes.

À Jessica Regina, Luiza e Pedro pela eterna companhia, troca de conhecimento e amizade.

À Dra. Fátima Ferreira por ter me permitido a maior experiência que já tive em toda minha vida. Obrigada pelas ótimas discussões e convversas que me ajudaram a ser uma profissional melhor.

Ao Dr. Carlos Ueira por ter me oferecido a oportunidade de trabalhar com o que eu gosto e acima de tudo ter se tornado um grande amigo.

À Dra. Ana Maria Bonetti por todo exemplo profissional. Ficarei muito feliz se um dia eu consiga ser pelo menos metade da profissional que a senhora é.

Ao Dr. Luiz Ricardo, meu orientador, por ter confiado no meu trabalho e acima de tudo ter me apoiado sempre. Obrigada por fazer o meu sonho real, fico muito feliz em ver que o que eu trabalho e tanto gosto, se tornndo um projeto de tanto sucesso.

À Janaina, secretária da Pós, por exercer sua função de forma brilhante e sempre alegre.

À TODOS os colegas do laboratório de Nanobiotecnologia da UFU pelo ambiente agradável e de união que proporcionaram durante este tempo de convívio mútuo.

À Capes, financiadora deste trabalho.

# SUMÁRIO

CAPÍTULO I	5
INTRODUÇÃO	5
REVISÃO DA LITERATURA	6
Resposta Inflamatória	6
Resposta Alérgica	9
VIAS DE SINALIZAÇÃO	
TGF-β1	
IL-10	
Imunoterapia específica ao Pólen de Bétula e o papel da IL-10 e do TGF-	<b>β1</b> 16
Desenvolvimento biotecnológico de fármacos por Phage Display	
Referências	
CAPÍTULO II	
IL10-LIKE PEPTIDE AS A POTENT IMMUNOMODULATOR IN ALLE	RGIC
INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Results	
Peptide selection by Phage Display	
In Silico analysis and structure of peptides	
Treatment of reporter cells	
Effect on dendritic and T cells after peptide treatment in an inflammator	y and
allergic environment	
Pep1 action in basophil degranulation	
J774 cytokine production after Pep 1 treatment	
Methods	50
Phage Display	50
DNA Sequencing	
In Silico Analysis	
Phage-ELISA Screening	
Peptide Synthesis	
Dynamic light scattering (DSL)	
Reporter cell analysis	
Murine Dendritic Cells from Bone marrow (BMDCs) treatment	
IL10Pep10 action in T cell proliferation	
RBL Assay	
J774 Cell Line Stimuli	
Statistical Analysis	
Keierences	
Supplementary Figures	
VAPITULU III	
MUDIFICATIONS OF TGF-B-LIKE PEPTIDES AFFECT TGFBILACTI	VATION
Abstract	
Ausu act Introduction	

Results	66
Design of peptides and aggregation assay	66
Anti-TGF-β1 antibody recognition on A549 cell surface	68
Capacity of TGF-\beta1-like peptides to activate SMAD-dependent pathway	68
Effects of peptides on the NFkB pathway	69
Discussion	74
Methodology	77
Design of TGF-β1-like peptides	77
Peptide structures	78
Dynamic light-scattering (DSL) measurement	78
Detection of TGF <sup>β1</sup> -like peptides on the surface of the A549 cell line	78
The capacity of TGF-\beta1-like peptides to activate the SMAD-dependent pathwa	<b>y</b> .79
Effects of peptides on the NFkB pathway	
Action of peptides on the TLR4 pathway	80
Statistical analyses	80
References	81
Supplementary Figures	83
CAPÍTULO IV	87
THE COMBINATION OF TGFB1- AND IL-10-LIKE PEPTIDES MODULATE	S
ALLERGEN-SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSE IN MICE	87
Abstract	89
Introduction	90
Material and methods	92
Synthetic peptides and allergens	92
Immunizations	92
Mediator release assay	93
Isolation of splenocytes	94
Cytokine detection by ELISPOT	94
Statistical analysis	95
Results and Discussion	95
The combination of TGF\$1- and IL-10-like peptides suppresses basophil	
degranulation	95
The combination of TGFβ1- and IL-10-like peptides modulates cytokine	
production	97
References	99
Conclusões	. 102
Perspectivas	. 103

## LISTA DE FIGURAS

Capítulo I Figura 1: Perfil de diferenciação de linfócitos T	7
Figura 2: Ação da expressão de NF-κB na resposta imunológicas.	9
Figura 3: Mecanismo da resposta alérgica.	11
<b>Figura 4:</b> Via de sinalização do TGF-β1	13
Figura 5: Via de sinalização da IL-10.	15
<b>Figura 6:</b> Esquema representativo de um bacteriófago filamentoso M13 ilustrando as proteínas do capsídeo viral: p9, p7, p8, p6 e p3	18
Capítulo II Figure 1: Pre-screening ELISA Assay.	33
Figure 2: Predictions of peptide structures	35
<b>Figure 3:</b> NFκB expression analysis in Jurkart-Dual reporter cells	37
Figure 4: IFN expression analysis in Jurkart-Dual reporter cells	38
Figure 5: TLR4 expression analysis in HEK reporter cells	39
Figure 6: Murine BMDC treatment	40
Figure 7: T cells from Allergic patient proliferation	41
Figura 8: Mediator release assay	42
Figure 9: J774 cell line stimulus with Pep1	43
SF1: NFκB expression analysis after peptide stimuli.	57
SF2: IFN expression analysis after peptide treatment	58
SF3: TLR4 expression analysis with no activation molecules	61
CapítuloIII Figure 1: Peptides structure prediction. In red is represented the hydrophobic and blue hydrophilic amino acids.	66
<b>Figure 2</b> : Analysis of the aggregation behavior of synthetic peptides in solution analyzed by DLS	65

Figure 3: Peptides binding to A549 cell receptor.	66
Figure 4: TGFRβII and SMAD pathway activation	67
<b>Figure 5:</b> Action of peptides on the NFκB pathway	69
Figure 6: Action of peptides on TLR4 expression.	71
<b>SF1:</b> HEK-blue-TGF- $\beta$ cell activation with rTGF- $\beta$ 1	81
SF2: NFkB expression after stimuli by peptides alone	82
<b>SF3:</b> rTGF-β1 action on NFκB expression.	83
SF4: TLR4 expression after peptide stimuli.	83
SF5: rTGF curve in TLR4 expression	84
<b>Capítulo IV</b> <b>Figure 1:</b> The combination of TGFβ1- and IL-10-like peptides suppresses IgE-specific basophil degranulation	96
<b>Figura 2</b> : The combination of TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides modulates cytokine production.	97

# LISTA DE TABELAS

## CapítuloII

Table 1: Phage clones selected from PhD7mer	34
Table 2: Phage clones selected from PhD12	34

## LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

°C	Graus Celsius
APC	Célula Apresentadora de Antígenos
BSA	Soro Albumina Bovina
Treg	Célula T Regulatória
Breg	Célula B Regulatória
Dcs	Células Dendítricas
DNA	Ácido Desoxirribonucléico
DLS	Espalhamento dinâmico da luz
ELISA	Ensaio de Imunoabsorção Ligado a Enzima
Foxp3	Gene 3 do cromossomo X
g	Grama
h	Hora
TGF-β1	Fator Transformante de Crescimento Betal humano
IFN	Interferon
IgE	Imunoglobulina E
IL	Interleucina
ΝFκB	Factor Nuclear kappa B
PAMPs	Padrões Moleculares Associados a Patógenos
BMP	Proteína Óssea Morfogenética
IL10R1	Receptor 1 (alfa) da IL10
IL10R2	Receptor 2 (beta) da IL10
LPS	Lipopolissacarídeo
TLR	Receptores Semelhantes a Toll
TNF	Fator de Necrose Tumoral
TNFR	Receptor do Fator de Necrose Tumoral
TCR	Receptor de Células T
BCR	Receptor de Células B
MCP-1	Proteína 1 Quimiatraente de Monócitos
T CD4+	Linfócitos T CD4+
KDa	Kilodaltons
LB	Meio de Cultura Luria-Bertania
М	Molar
MgCl	Cloreto de Magnesio
MHC	Complexo de Histocompatibilidade
Min	Minutos
mL	Mililitro
Ν	Normal
NaI	Iodeto de sódio
Ng	Nanogramas
Nm	Nanômetros

OD	Densidade ótica
OPD	1,2 ortofenilenodiamino
PBS	Tampão Salina Fosfato
PEG	Polietileno glycol
рН	Potencial Hidrogeniônico
Ph.D	Bibliotecas de Phage Display New England Biolabs
Ph.D-12mer	Biblioteca contendo 12 peptídeos randômicos
P3	Proteína 3 capsídica de bacteriófagos filamentosos
Р9	Proteína 9 capsídica de bacteriófagos filamentosos
P6	Proteína 6 capsídica de bacteriófagos filamentosos
P7	Proteína 7 capsídica de bacteriófagos filamentosos
P8	Proteína 8 capsídica de bacteriófagos filamentosos
RNA	Ácido Ribonucléico
RPM	Rotações por minuto
SMADS	Proteínas Intra Celulares que traduzem sinais extracelulares de
	TGF-β
SEAP	Fosfatase Alcalina Secretada
FceRI	Receptor de Alta Afinidade de Imunoglobuina E
Teff	Célula T efetora
Th	Linfócitos T auxiliares
TβRI	Receptor tipo I de TGF-β
ΤβRII	Receptor tipo II de TGF-β
UFU	Universidade Federal de Uberlândia
x g	Força Centrífuga
ASIT/IT	Imunoterapia Alérgeno Específica
BMDC	Células Dendríticas da Medúla Óssea
μl	Microlitros

### RESUMO

A resposta alérgica é caracterizada pelo reconhecimento de alérgenos e ativação do sistema imunológico. Um alérgeno, irá ativar células para que haja a produção de citocinas inflamatórias, diferenciação de linfócitos T para um perfil Th2, ativação de linfócitos B para a produção de IgE e liberação de moléculas inflamatórias. Uma vez desencadeado, este processo ativará ainda mais o sistema imunológico a exacerbar esta resposta, promovendo então, todo um mecanismo que é desconfortável ao paciente. Atualmente o principal tratamento realizado é a imunoterapia (IT), aonde são administradas doses de alérgenos específicos à pacientes, a fim de desenvolver uma resposta tolerante. A IT promove um efeito efeiciente pois é capaz de promover a diferenciação de Tregs, diminuindo a produção de IgE alérgeno específico. Este tratamento é bastante longo e pode gerar efeitos adversos, por isso a necessidade de desenvolver novas metodologias de IT que possam gerar uma resposta estável, diminuindo o tempo de tratamento, além de promover uma diminuição nos efeitos colaterais.

Para isso, peptídeos imunomodulatórios com ação semelhante a IL-10 e TGF- $\beta$ 1, podem ser uma boa alternativa para o desenvolvimento de novas estratégias de IT. A IL-10 e o TGF- $\beta$ 1 são citocinas produzidas por diferentes linhagens celulares que possuem um papel chave na manutenção do controle da resposta imunológica, podendo então, a sua ação ser utilizada a fim de promover uma regulação de uma respota alérgica inflamatória. Contudo, o objetivo deste tratalho foi isolar peptídeos com ação semelhante a IL-10 e investigar a sua ação em um ambiente alérgico inflamatório e/ou juntamente com peptídeos miméticos ao TGF- $\beta$ 1, já isolados em um trabalho anterior.

Nossos resultados mostram que a metodologia de *Phage Display*, aplicada para a seleção dos peptídeos é bastante eficiente, uma vez que conseguimos peptídeos com diferentes capacidade de modulação. Com isso, propomos a utilização de dois peptídeos simultaneamente, no tratamento de uma resposta alérgica, promovendo uma resposta regulatória alérgeno específica, o que diminuiria os efeitos colaterais atualmente encontramos na maioria dos tratamentos utilizados.

Palavras chave: IL-10, TGF-β1, peptídeos, imunoterapia, inflamação, alergia

## ABSTRACT

The allergic response is characterized by the recognition of allergens and activation of the immune system. An allergen, when it breaks the physical barrier, will activate cells to produce inflammatory cytokines, differentiate T lymphocytes into a Th2 profile, activate B lymphocytes to produce IgE, and release inflammatory molecules. Once triggered, this process will further activate the immune system to exacerbate this response, thus promoting a whole mechanism that is uncomfortable for the patient. Currently, the main treatment performed is immunotherapy (IT), where specific doses of allergens are administered to patients in order to develop a tolerant response. IT promotes an effective effect since it is able to promote the differentiation of Tregs, reducing the production of specific allergen IgE. This treatment is long and can generate adverse effects, therefore the need to develop new IT methodologies that can generate a stable response, reducing the time of treatment, besides promoting a decrease in the side effects.

For this, immunomodulatory peptides with action similar to IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ 1, may be a good alternative for the development of new IT strategies. IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ 1 are cytokines produced by different cell lines that play a key role in maintaining control of the immune response, and their action may be used to promote regulation of an inflammatory response.

However, the purpose of this work was to isolate IL-10-like peptides and investigate their action in an inflammatory allergic environment and / or together with TGF- $\beta$ 1 mimetic peptides, already isolated in a previous work.

Our results show that the Phage Display methodology applied for the selection of peptides is quite efficient, since we obtain peptides with different modulation capacity. With this, we propose the use of two peptides simultaneously, in the treatment of an allergic response, promoting a specific allergen regulatory response, which would decrease the side effects currently found in most of the treatments used.

**Key Words:** IL-10, TGF-β1, peptides, immunotherapy, inflammation, allergy

## APRESENTAÇÃO

O Fator de Crescimento  $\beta$ 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) e a Interleucina 10 (IL-10) são consideradas citocinas regulatórias capazes de modular e controlar a resposta imune. Ambas as citocinas podem ser produzidas por diversos tipos celulares e possuem diferentes funções imunológicas. Estas citocinas possuem papel chave em diferentes células imunológicas tendo uma ação importante na diferenciação de células T, conseguindo modular perfis celulares de forma a ajudar no combate à inflamação.

A forma como o TGF- $\beta$  e a IL-10 vão agir no sistema imune é dependente do meio o qual estão inseridos e a forma como elas conseguem ativar os seus respectivos receptores. Elas conseguem também interferir em diferentes vias inflamatórias, desenvolvendo importante papel na sua inibição. Portanto, o melhor conhecimento de como ambas as citocinas podem ajudar a controlar respostas inflamatórias e alérgicas, agindo nas principais vias de sinalização, pode contribuir para o desenvolvimento de novos tratamentos.

Novas estratégias terapêuticas tem sido desenvolvidas a fim de se melhorar a eficiência do tratamento, além de diminuir os efeitos colaterais para quem faz uso. Para isso, peptídeos miméticos podem ser uma uma boa alternativa. Peptídeos são pequenas sequências que podem ser sintéticas, que podem ser selecionados pela metodologia de *Phage Display* contra um alvo específico, oferencendo um tratamento mais barato quando comparado a moléculas nativas. Apesar de possuir um tamanho pequeno, conseguem de forma semelhante ou até melhor, desencadear uma resposta alvo, tendo a capacidade de mimetizar exatamente a região específica necessária para o desenvolvimento da ação de interesse.

Peptídeos miméticos à citocinas são considerados uma boa alternativa, uma vez que, conseguem de forma eficiente modular uma resposta da mesma forma que uma citocina nativa, podendo inclusive promover uma resposta mais específica a um alvo promovendo diminuição dos efeitos colaterais.

Citocinas tem se tornado alvo terapêutico pois coordenam as respostas imunológicas podendo não apenas promover um controle imunológico, como também ser capaz de gerar uma resposta segura ao paciente conseguindo combater a infecção proporcionando um tratamento mais eficaz ao intervir em situações que seja diagnosticado respostas imunológica extremas: exacerbação ou imunossupressão.

Esta tese teve como objetivos:

- 1. Capítulo II:
  - Selecionar, por *Phage Display*, peptídeos com ação semelhante a IL-10. Peptídeos com afinidade a receptores celulares foram sintetizados e a sua capacidade de modular respostas inflamatórias e alérgicas foi analisada.
  - Peptídeos foram analisados quanto a capacidade de interferir em vias de sinalização (TLR4, NFκB, IFN) ou modular células importantes (macrófagos, basófilos, BMDCs e células T) para o desenvolvimento de uma resposta alérgica inflamatória.
- 2. Capítulo III:
  - Estudar qual a influência da estrutura e sequência de peptídeos semelhantes ao TGF-β1, na ativação do TGFβRII e consequente via de sinalização SMAD dependente.
  - Analisar a influência dos peptídeos sintéticos em modular vias de sinalização (TLR4 e NFκB) importantes para o desenvolvimento de uma resposta inflamatória.
- 3. Capítulo IV:
  - Propor, de acordo com os resultados obtidos, a utilização conjunta de peptídeos com ação semelhante a IL-10 e ao TGF-β1 para o tratamento de uma resposta alérgica específica ao Pólen de Bétula.
  - Investigar, em camundongos, a capacidade do tratamento em modular a produção de citocinas e liberação de mediadores alérgicos.

# CAPÍTULO I

# INTRODUÇÃO

### **REVISÃO DA LITERATURA**

### **Resposta Inflamatória**

O sistema imunológico é constituído por células e moléculas responsáveis por defender o organismo contra moléculas ou microorganismo invasores, gerando assim uma resposta<sup>1</sup>. A resposta imune pode ser inata ou adptativa. A resposta imune Inata é a primeira linha de defesa contra qualquer tipo de patógenos, recrutando células para o sítio de inflamação, sendo então considerado uma resposta rápida<sup>2</sup>. A resposta imune adaptativa, entretanto, possui alta especificidade ao tipo de patógeno, aparecendo em uma fase posterior a resposta inata, tendo um alto nível de maturação e desenvolvimento celular<sup>3</sup>.

A resposta inflamatória é uma ação natural do organismo contra invasão de agentes infeciosos ou em qualquer dano, ajudando na manutenção da homeostase sobre qualquer condição de estresse<sup>4</sup>. Embora o processo inflamatório dependa do tipo de estímulo inicial e do local do corpo, o processo em si possui mecanismos em comum como o receptores celulares de reconhecimento, a ativação de diferentes vias de inflamação, a liberação de marcadores e citocinas inflamatórias e o recrutamento de células<sup>5,6</sup>.

As manifestações de um processo inflamatório são: vermelhidão, inchaço, calor e dor, recrutando para o sítio da inflamação células como monócitos, macrófagos, basófilos, células dendríticas, mastócitos, células T e B<sup>7</sup>. A defesa contra microorganismos patogênicos requer uma comunicação entre a resposta imune inata e adaptativa. Sinais celulares advindos da resposta inata, após estímulo de agentes patógenos e inflamatórios, promovem, então, a diferenciação de células T CD4+ *naive* em outros perfis, como linfócitos T *helper* 1 (Th1), Th2, Th17, *iTreg* e Tfoliculares.

A diferenciação de linfócitos auxiliares permite a eliminação de patógenos intra e extracelulares, sendo portanto, de grande importância para o sucesso da resposta imune<sup>8,9</sup>. As células encontradas no perfil Th1, possuem a expressão do fator de transcrição T-Bet, secretando citocinas relacionadas principalmente com a defesa mediada por fagocitose contra agentes infecciosos, como vírus e bactérias. As principais citocinas encontradas neste perfil são o IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$  e IL-2, que desempenham papel importante no processo inflamatório<sup>10</sup>. Diferentemente, as principais citocinas encontradas no perfil Th2, são IL-4, e IL-13, que são relacionadas com a produção de anticorpos do tipo IgE e reações imunes mediadas por eosinófilos e mastócitos contra alérgenos e helmintos<sup>11,12</sup>. As células

Tfoliculares são Bcl-6<sup>+</sup>, produzindo principalmente IL-21, enquanto que Th17 e iTreg possuem os fatores de transcrição RORγt e Foxp3, respectivamente<sup>8</sup>.



**Figura 1:** Perfil de diferenciação de linfócitos T. Após a quebra da homeostasia, células apresentadoras de antígenos (APCs) processam estas moléculas e as apresentam a células T, via MHC-I ou MHC-II. A partir do estímulo recebido, células T vão expressar diferentes fatores de transcrição e consequentemente produzir perfis de citocinas distintos, caracterizando os diferentes perfis celulares (Tfh, Th2, Th1, Th17, iTreg)<sup>8</sup>.

A resposta Th2 pode ser analisada através do perfil de citocinas e está diretamente envolvida na produção de IgE, anticorpo produzido a partir da resposta a um alérgeno e responsável pelas reações alérgicas típicas. A produção de IgE é potencializada pela presença da citocina IL-4, que pode ser detectada para classificar o perfil Th2<sup>13</sup>.

Ambos os fatores ambientais e genéticos atuam em conjunto para determinar a polarização para um perfil Th1 ou Th2. Além disso, as respostas dominadas por Th1 estão envolvidas na patogênese de distúrbios autoimunes como a doença de *Crohn*, sarcoidose, rejeição aguda de aloenxertos de rim e alguns abortos recorrentes inexplicados. Em contraste, as respostas Th2 específicas de alérgenos são responsáveis por distúrbios atópicos em indivíduos geneticamente suscetíveis<sup>14</sup>. Por isso, torna-se de extrema

importância o estudo de diferenciação de células T, tendo conhecimento de qual perfil um patôgeno pode desenvolver e quais células serão recrutadas para o combate da inflamação.

A ativação de células de defesa promove a ativação de alguns fatores de transcrição como Fator nulear- $\kappa$ B (NF $\kappa$ B), além de promover a produção de quimiocinas e citocinas. Assim, TNF- $\alpha$ , interleucina 1 (IL-1), interleucina 6 (IL-6) e interleucina 8 (IL-8) são as principais citocinas encontradas em uma resposta inflamatória<sup>15</sup>.

Uma molécula bastante utilizada em modelos animais e estudos *in vitro*, para o desenvolvimento de um perfil inflamatório é o lipopolissacarídeo (LPS), uma vez que é capaz de ativar receptores do tipo *Toll* (TLRs) levando, consequentemente, a ativação de NF $\kappa$ B e a produção de IL-1 e TNF- $\alpha$ , mecanismos importantes no desenvolvimento de um processo inflamatório<sup>16</sup>.

O NFκB pertencente a uma família de fatores de transcrição indutíveis que regulam a expressão de diversos genes envolvidos na resposta inflamatória<sup>17</sup>. A sua ativação está relacionada, principalmente, em resposta a ativação de receptores de reconhecimento padrão (PRRs), receptor do TNF (TNFR) e receptor de células T e B (TCR e BCR)<sup>18</sup>. A sua expressão está correlacionada com a indução de genes inflamatórios regulando a ativação, diferenciação, ativação e função de células T, regulando a ativação de inflamosomas e doenças crônicas inflamatórias<sup>17,19,20</sup>. Além disso, a sua ativação promove a produção de citocinas como IL-6, TNF-α, IL-1, IL-2, IL-8 e IL-12 e quimicionas como MCP-1, IL-18, MIP-2, CXCL-1, CXCL10 e RANTES encontradas em um processo inflamatório. NFκB é um fator importante na ativação de células dendríticas, neutrófilos e macrófagos, interferindo também nos processos apoptóticos, de adesão e ciclo celular<sup>21</sup> (Figura 2).



**Figura 2:** Ação da expressão de NF- $\kappa$ B na resposta imunológica. NF- $\kappa$ B pode ativar diferentes genes responsáveis por regular o processo inflamatório. A sua ação não apenas aumenta diretamente a produção de citocinas inflamatórias, quimiocinas e a expressão de moléculas de adesão, mas também possui um papel chave na proliferação celular, apoptose, morfogêneses e diferenciação celular<sup>21</sup>.

Por influenciar diversificados processos e agir em células do sistema imunológico, este fator de transcrição é encontrado na maioria das doenças inflamatórias tornando-se de fundamental importância o seu conhecimento para o desenvolvimento de novas moléculas anti-inflamatórias. Portanto, o melhor conhecimento dos mecanismos relacionados a expressão de NF $\kappa$ B, bem como estratégias terapêuticas de como bloquear ou diminuir a sua ativação, se tornam uma grande ferramenta imunológica.

#### **Resposta Alérgica**

A resposta alérgica é dirigida contra moléculas ambientais, conhecidas como alérgenos que se originam de diferentes fontes, incluindo pólens, sementes, esporos de mofo, pelos de animais domésticos, poluição do ar, alimentos, ácaros, mudanças climáticas, entre outros<sup>22</sup>. Apesar de representarem apenas uma pequena proporção das partículas transportadas pelo ar presentes no ambiente, os grãos de pólen podem ser agentes causadores de respostas respiratórias em indivíduos alérgicos. Devido a elevada prevalência e altos custos associados, a doença alérgica relacionada ao pólen é considerada agora um problema de saúde pública<sup>23</sup>. Nos países da União Europeia, estima-se que entre 8 e 35% dos jovens adultos apresentam anticorpos séricos do tipo IgE para os alérgenos encontrados no grão de pólen<sup>24</sup>. Estudos realizados no Brasil, mais precisamente em São Paulo, sugerem que a prevalência de sensibilização a diferentes alérgenos relacionados com asma e rinite alérgica varia de 71.2 a 93.7% na população<sup>22</sup>.

A concentração de pólen alergênico influencia o grau dos sintomas, mas a relação entre a exposição ao alérgeno, a inflamação das vias respiratórias e os sintomas clínicos é complexa, onde fatores não relacionados ao contato com o alérgeno também podem estar envolvidos<sup>25,26</sup>. A descoberta de alérgenos transportados pelo ar, carregando partículas menores que os grãos de pólen, pode ajudar a explicar os sintomas bronquiais que afetam várias pessoas durante a primavera ou estação chuvosa. Por causa de seu tamanho microscópico, essas partículas podem penetrar profundamente nas vias respiratórias induzindo processos alérgicos como asma e rinite <sup>27, 28</sup>.

Os mecanismos relacionados à indução e regulação da resposta alérgica em humanos não são ainda muito bem entendidos, no entanto, sabe-se que a doença alérgica é tipicamente dividida em uma fase de sensibilização, em que o sistema imune identifica a molécula estranha como um alérgeno, e a fase alérgica, desencadeada quando o organismo entra novamente em contato com o alérgeno<sup>29</sup>.

Na fase de sensibilização, os alérgenos são reconhecidos e processados pelas APCs em pequenos fragmentos que são então apresentados as células T CD4+ via MHCII. A ativação de células T é facilidada pela expressão de moléculas co-estimulatórias como CD40, CD80 e CD86. A produção de citocinas como IL-4, IL-5 e IL-13, juntamente com essas moléculas, promovem, então, a diferenciação de um perfil Th2, encontrada em respostas alérgicas, além de promover a diferenciação de células B tornando-as produtoras de IgE alérgeno específca<sup>30,31</sup>. As Imunoglobulinas produzidas irão entrar em contato com receptores IgE de alta afinidade (FcɛRI). Após contato repetido com o alérgeno, reações cruzadas do complexo IgE-FcɛRI com mastócitos e basófilos desencadeiam a degranulação e liberação de aminas vasoativas (como por exemplo a histamina), mediadores de lipídicos

(como por exemplo as prostaglandinas e leucotrienos), quimiocinas e citocinas<sup>32,33,34,35</sup> (Figura 3).



**Figura 3:** Mecanismo da resposta alérgica. Células dendríticas reconhecem e apresentam os alérgenos a células T, por MHCII. Células T irão se diferenciar em um perfil Th2 que irá ativar células B a produzirem IgE. A produção de IgE específica ao alérgeno se liga ao receptor de IgE de alta afinidade FcɛRI, presente em mastócitos e basófilos promovendo a sua degranulação e liberação de moléculas inflamatórias<sup>35</sup>.

Este mecanismo alérgico descrito é considerado IgE dependente, entretanto, muitas doenças alérgicas estão associadas a defeitos a barreira epitelial, que permite uma variedade de moléculas, incluindo alérgenos, serem reconhecidos, processados e apresentados a células T promovendo a diferenciação de um perfil Th2, sem a necessidade de IgE ativar o seu receptor. Este mecanismo, é então considerado IgE independente, pois as células do sistema imune, pode reconhecer estes alérgenos e ativar vias, como por exemplo TLRs, que desencadeia todo o processo alérgico sem que haja necessariamente a produção de IgE, para a liberação de moléculas inflamatórias<sup>36,37</sup>. Este mecanismo, entretanto, ainda não é totalmente claro necessitando de mais estudos que nos permitam desenvolver novas formas de tratamento.

Portanto, com a prevalência cada vez maior em países desenvolvidos e em desenvolvimento, as doenças alérgicas têm despertado cada vez mais interesse da comunidade científica. Avanços nos conhecimentos relacionados às reações alérgicas

associados às técnicas modernas de biologia molecular, bem como o perfil celular encontrado nessas respostas, têm direcionado as pesquisas para novas perspectivas visando o desenvolvimento de novas formas de tratamento.

## VIAS DE SINALIZAÇÃO

### TGF-β1

No sistema imunológico o fator de crescimento beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) possui um papel fundamental na modulação dos perfils de células T, podendo interferir e promover a diferenciação de perfis Th1, Th2, Th17, Treg. O TGF- $\beta$  pertence a uma classes de citocinas com vários efeitos no sistema biológico que vai desde o desenvolvimento biológico até migração e diferenciação celular<sup>38,39</sup>.

Devido esta diversidade em modular diferentes respostas e tecidos, são encontrados em mamíferos três isoformas do TGF- $\beta$ , sendo TGF- $\beta$ 1, TGF- $\beta$ 2 e TGF- $\beta$ 3, com 70% de homologia<sup>40,41</sup>. TGF- $\beta$ 1 é produzido por diferentes tipos celulares, como por exemplo, plaquetas, neutrófilos, células malignas, células dendríticas e macrofagos<sup>42</sup>.

Para o seu efeito biológico é necessário que o TGF-β1 se ligue ao seu receptor ativando a via SMAD-dependente ou SMAD-independente, entretanto, o que vai determinar qual via será preferencialmente expressa depende do meio aonde inserido<sup>43</sup>. A citocina se liga ao TGFβRII (receptor II) e posteriormente ao TGFβRI (receptor I) ambos com ação serina/treonina<sup>44</sup>. Proteínas Smads (SMAD 2 e SMAD3) são expressas e fosforiladas iniciando a ativação da via dependente de SMAD. Um complexo protéico é formado por SMADs, que entram no núcleo celular e promovem a transcrição de diferentes genes, como por exemplo, fator de transcrição *forkhead 3* (Foxp3), encontrado em células T regulatórias (Treg)<sup>45</sup>. Tregs possuem um papel imuno modulador contra antígenos próprios, alérgenos, microbiota comensal, assim como, respostas imunológicas contra agentes infecciosos e tumores<sup>46,47</sup>.

Contudo, a ativação do receptor do TGF- $\beta$ 1 também pode ativar a via independente de SMAD, atuando na expressão de vias pro-inflamatórias, como p38MAPK, RHO, PI3K-AKT, ERK, JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B<sup>48,49</sup>. Estas vias inflamatórias, entretanto, também podem sofrer interferência de SMADs inibitórias (SMAD6 e SMAD7). As proteínas inibitórias promovem um feedback negativo na ativação da via SMAD-dependente. SMAD6 interfere na ativação da via induzida por BMP, pertencente à família do TGF- $\beta$ , enquanto que a SMAD7 é a molécula específica para inibir a ativação da via desencadeada pelo TGF- $\beta 1^{50,51}$ .

A SMAD7, especificamente, pode inibir a via SMAD-dependente por três diferentes mecanismos: 1) SMAD7 pode formar um complexo estável com o TGFβRI promovendo a inibição da fosforilação de R-SMADs; 2) SMAD7 pode recrutar proteínas E3 uniquitina ligase (HECT), Smurf1 e Smurf2 ativando o TGFβRI levando a degradação do receptor por via protossomal e 3) SMAD7 promove a degradação de TGFβRI, assim como, R-SMADs e SMAD4<sup>45,52,53</sup>.

Além disso, estudos mostram que a SMAD7 atua perturbando a formação do complexo protéico TRAF2-TAK1-TAB2/3 promovendo a inibição e a expressão de NF $\kappa$ B desencadeada pelo estímulo com TNF- $\alpha^{54}$ . A expressão de NF $\kappa$ B, também pode ser induzida após ativação de TLRs por proteínas e PAMPs, como por exemplo LPS. Após a sua ativação, a via dependente de MYD88 pode ser ativada e então promover a produção de citocinas pro-inflamatórias como TNF- $\alpha$  e IL-1. Neste microambiente estudos mostram que o TGF- $\beta$ 1 promove a inibição da via MyD88 dependente, uma vez que inibe a fosforilação de I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , bloqueando a expressão de NF $\kappa$ B<sup>55</sup>.



**Figura 4:** Via de sinalização do TGF- $\beta$ 1. O início da cascata de sinalização começa após a ligação do TGF-  $\beta$ 1 no receptor II (TGF $\beta$ RII) e a formação do complexo TGF $\beta$ RII- TGF $\beta$ RI. Na via dependente de SMAD, SMAD2/3 são fosforiladas e um complexo com R-SMAD é formado, para que entre no núcleo e controle a expressão de genes alvos. A via independente de SMAD promove ativação de vias pro-inflamatórias, como p38MAPK, RHO, PI3K-AKT, ERK, JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B<sup>56</sup>.

### IL-10

A IL-10 é uma citocina pleiotrópica com propriedades regulatórias e é principalmente secretada por células T ativadas, macrófagos, células dendríticas, monócitos, células *natural killers* e células B, que desempenham importantes funções imunorreguladoras em vários tipos de células diferentes. É uma citocina anti-inflamatória com a capacidade de inibir a expressão de citocinas inflamatórias como o TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 e IL-1 <sup>57</sup>. Além disso, ela promove a regulação negativa das citocinas encontradas em um perfil Th1 (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-3, IFN- $\gamma$ ) promovendo, também, o aumento na sobrevida do Linfócito B<sup>58,59</sup>. Em macrófagos, por exemplo, a IL-10 promove a diminuição da produção de citocinas pro-inflamatórias e espécies reativas de oxigênio, protegendo a célula contra danos<sup>60</sup>.

Para a ativação da sua função regulatória, IL-10 se liga a subunidade 1 (IL-10R1) do receptor ativando a fosforilação de Jak1 e TyK2 levando a fosforilação do domínio intracelular de IL-10R1 ativando a fosforilação de STAT3. Uma vez ativada, STAT3

transloca para dentro do núcleo se ligando em regiões SBE localizados na região promotora, promovendo, então, expressão de diferentes genes, incluindo SOCS3.

SOCS3 é responsável por fazer um feedback negativo na via JAK1/TyK2/STAT3, bem como inibir a sinalização de MAPK evitando a translocação de NF $\kappa$ B no núcleo e consequentemente a produção de citocinas como IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  e IL1- $\beta^{61}$ .



**Figura 5:** Via de sinalização da IL-10. A ativação do IL-10R1 após a ligação da IL-10 promove a ativação de JAK1/TyK2/STAT3 que é capaz de controlar a expressão de diferentes genes, como SOCS3. Uma vez expressa SOCS3 pode promover um feedback negativo inibindo ativação de MAPK, NKκB e consequentemente a produção de citocinas pro-inflamatórias<sup>61</sup>.

No campo da alergia, já foi demonstrado que a IL-10 previne a diferenciação de monócitos em células dendríticas, principais células apresentadoras de antígeno, diminuindo também a expressão de CD86 nestas células<sup>62,63</sup>. Esta citocina também possuem um papel importante na diferenciação de células T, sendo por exemplo, produzidas por células Treg com a função de suprimir uma resposta específica à antígenos. Além da regulação das células T, a IL-10 também desempenha um papel na indução de IgG4 e na supressão de IgE e contribuem essencialmente para a tolerância à alérgenos<sup>64</sup>.

Por ser produzida e influenciar diferentes tipos celulares, a IL-10, possui uma ação importante do desenvolvimento da resposta imune. Assim, o entendimento de como a IL-10 regula diferentes tipos celulares encontradas tanto na resposta imune inata quanto na resposta imune adaptativa, é crucial para o desenvolvimento de novas estratégias de intervenção para tratamento de várias patologias<sup>57</sup>.

#### Imunoterapia específica ao Pólen de Bétula e o papel da IL-10 e do TGF-B1

Pólen de Bétula (*Betula verrucosa*) é descrito como o principal causador de alergia no hemisfério norte. Um dos principais alérgenos responsáveis por reações alérgicas, presente no Polén de Bétula, é o Bet v 1, disseminado durante a primavera por árvores pertencentes à ordem Fagales. O Bet v 1 apresenta diferentes isoformas onde, até o momento, já foram identificadas mais de 30 apresentando diferentes níveis de alergenicidade e imunogenicidade, o que levou essas isoformas a serem classificadas como proteínas ligantes à IgE's com alta, média e baixa afinidade<sup>65,66</sup>. Este principal alérgeno encontrado no Polén de Bétula é responsável por gerar uma resposta específica em 95% dos pacientes alérgicos a este tipo de polén<sup>67,68</sup>

Os principais sintomas descritos após a sua sensibilização são espirros, tosse, garganta inflamada, asma, etc., podendo também desenvolver uma resposta que afeta o sistema gastrointestinal, promove coceira nos olhos, urticária e outras reações<sup>69</sup>.

A maioria das abordagens terapêuticas tratam apenas os sintomas causados pela doença alérgica, razão pela qual o principal medicamento prescrito é o anti-histamínico. Entretanto, a imunoterapia alérgeno específica (IT) pode melhorar a qualidade de vida dos pacientes uma vez que promove a modulação da resposta alérgeno-específico.

Por mais de 100 anos a IT tem sido utilizada para tratar indivíduos alérgicos, sendo a terapia clínica mais utilizada para alergia mediada por IgE<sup>70</sup>. A IT envolve o tratamento com doses crescentes de um determinado alérgeno com o intuito de suprimir os sintomas observados após à exposição a um determinado alérgeno, induzindo células Tregs alérgeno-especificas e promovendo a modulação da produção de anticorpos como IgG4, IgG1 e IgA<sup>71, 72, 73,74,75</sup>. Atualmente, a IT pode ser administrada por aplicação subcutânea ou sublingual. A duração da administração de um alérgeno específico, fase inicial, pode durar de 1 a 6 meses<sup>76,77</sup>.

Para ser eficaz, o alérgeno utilizado na IT precisa modular essa resposta imune sem apresentar reações adversas<sup>78</sup>. Com o intuito de analisar o potencial de um alérgeno em induzir a tolerância imunológica, estudos envolvendo as diferentes isoformas do Bet v 1 foram realizados com proteínas recombinantes. Alérgenos recombinantes são importantes para realização de estudos que viabilizam a padronização de fórmulas, a avaliação da estabilidade estrutural a função e as reações adversas. Eventosfundamentais na produção de alérgeno-específicos recombinantes com potencial de serem utilizados para imunoterapia<sup>79,80,81</sup>.

Na fase inicial da imunoterapia ocorre uma diminuição no número de mastócitos, eosinófilos e basófilos nos tecidos, juntamente com uma redução na liberação de mediadores<sup>82</sup>. A diminuição no número de basófilos é devido *a* regulação positiva de receptores H2, o que provoca a inibição da liberação de histamina mediada por FccRI presente na superfície de mastócitos e basófilos. Um aumento da síntese de IgG4 e IgA também é observado na fase inicial da imunoterapia<sup>83</sup>. Moléculas de IgG4 bloqueiam a interação entre a IgE e o alérgeno e consequentemente a apresentação do alérgeno às células T.

Na fase tardia, depois de vários meses de imunoterapia, células Th2 modificam seu perfil para Th1, e há um aumento no número e função de dois tipos de células Tregs: as naturais Tregs (nT-regs) e as Tregs induzidas (iT-regs), aonde o TGF- $\beta$ 1 possui papel fundamental na sua diferenciação. As iT-regs são células que secretam IL-10 derivadas de linfócitos T CD4+ e são um fator importante na indução da tolerância periférica<sup>84,85</sup>. A IL-10 inibe a produção de IgE, aumenta IgG4 e é diretamente envolvida na supressão de células T efetoras alérgeno-específicas<sup>86</sup>.

Diante disso, este trabalho propõe a utilização de peptídeos com ação semelhante a IL-10 e ao TGF-β1, para o desenvolvimento de novas estratégias de imunoterapia. Peptídeos miméticos ao TGF-β1 promoveriam, então, o desenvolvimento e diferenciação de células Tregs, enquanto que, peptídeos com ação semelhante a IL-10 manteria esta resposta regulatória interferindo também na produção de imunoglobulinas. A combinação de ambos peptídeos promoveriam então, não apenas o controle dos sintomas desencadeados por uma resposta alérgica, mas também agiririam modulando um perfil celular inflamatório que contribui para a exacerbação da resposta alérgica.

#### Desenvolvimento biotecnológico de fármacos por Phage Display

A tecnologia de *Phage Display*, é considerada uma boa ferramenta para a seleção de peptídeos com pontecial farmacéutico. Esta é uma tecnologia desenvolvida a fim de permitir o isolamento de sequências capazes de interagir com alvos específicos, tendo a expressão de peptídeos em regiões estratégicas em fagos filamentosos<sup>87,88</sup>.

Os bacteriófagos são fagos filamentosos capazes de infectar bactérias e promover uma rápida multiplicação de suas sequências, caracteristica que torna a metodologia rápida e barata de desenvolver. Eles possuem cinco proteínas (p3, p6, p7, p8 e p9), sendo as proteínas p3 e p8 as mais importantes para a aplicação da metodologia (Figura 6)<sup>89</sup>.



**Figura 6:** Esquema representativo de um bacteriófago filamentoso M13 ilustrando as proteínas do capsídeo viral: p9, p7, p8, p6 e  $p3^{89}$ .

O bacteriófago possui 2.800 cópias da p8 e cinco cópias da p3, e são exatamente no gene destas proteínas aonde sequências de peptídeos podem ser fusionados permitindo a sua expressão. Entretanto, devido a sua baixa quantidade, a expressão de peptídeos na proteína p3 se torna mais eficiente no isolamento de ligantes com alta afinidade<sup>90,91</sup>.

Devido a sua capacidade de selecionar peptídeos com alta especificicadade, a tecnologia de *Phage display*, têm sido considerada uma ferramenta poderosa para a

descoberta e designer de drogas<sup>92</sup>, mapeamento de superfícies celular<sup>93</sup>, vacinas<sup>94</sup>, desenvolvimento de ligantes á superfície celular com potencial aplicação na entrega de drogas<sup>95</sup>, biomarcadores<sup>96</sup> e produção de fragmentos de anticorpos (scFv - single chain fragment variable ou Fab - fragment of antibody) neutralizantes de alvos específicos (bactéria<sup>97</sup>, vírus<sup>98</sup>, citocinas<sup>99</sup> etc).

Com avanços na seletividade dos alvos imunológicos, síntese de proteínas, produção de anticorpos monoclonais e síntese de novas moléculas químicas, essas novas abordagens estão auxiliando na prevenção da ativação de linfócitos T, ao corrigir o desequilíbrio das populações de células T auxiliares, e proporcionar a inibição da expressão de citocinas encontradas em um perfil Th2; além de bloqueiar ações das vias posteriores dessas citocinas, tais como efeitos sobre IgE e eosinófilos<sup>100,101</sup>.

Dentre as inovações tecnológicas que mais tem se destacado esta a produção de medicamentos com alvos imunológicos, desenvolvidas por engenharia genetica, a fim de inibir a produção de citocinas importantes para o desenvolvimento e progressão de doenças (IL-1, IL-6, II-17 e TNF $\alpha$ )<sup>102</sup>. Entre os inibidores mais conhecidos, estão os anticorpos monoclonais (infliximab) e a proteína recombinante humanizada com ação inibidora do TNF $\alpha$  <sup>103</sup>. Alguns medicamentos produzidos pela técnica de *Phage Display* já estão no estágio de ensaio clínico ou em aprovação, dentre eles temos o Adalimumab (Humira), que é um IgG $\kappa$  humanizado ligante de TNF- $\alpha$  capaz de promover um bloqueio da sua ação inflamatória. Essa droga foi aprovado para o tratamento de artrite reumatóide, artrite idiopática juvenil e doença Crohn<sup>104,105</sup>.

Por fim, a plataforma de *Phage Display* também têm sido aplicada nos estudos em alergia. Através dessa tecnologia, pesquisadores conseguiram mapear e identificar epítopos de alérgenos, com intuito de entender a patogênese da alergia, bem como, compreender a sua cross-reatividade com o sistema imunológico para o desenvolvimento alvos terapéuticos<sup>106</sup>.

A imunoterapia alérgeno específica, atualmente, utiliza o aumento gradual da administração dos extratos alérgenos, com objetivo de aumentar a tolerância imunológica, produzindo um efeito de modulação da doença a longo prazo, atribuída pela regulação negativa ou modulação da resposta Th2 alérgeno-específica e à indução de anticorpos bloqueadores específicos de alérgenos<sup>107</sup>. No entanto, esta prática pode promover a ocorrência de efeitos colaterais anafiláticos uma vez que os compostos utilizados podem

aumentar o acontecimeto de reações cruzadas com IgE. Assim, a utilização de proteínas recombinantes, pode diminuir a ocorrência desses efeitos indesejáveis<sup>108,106</sup>.

Diante disso, a tecnologia de *Phage Display* pode auxiliar as pesquisas no entendimento dos mecanismos envolvidos nas reações inflamatórias, como as alérgicas, facilitando o desenvolvimento de novos fármacos.
## Referências

1. Hunter, D. J. & Reddy, K. S. Noncommunicable Diseases. N. Engl. J. Med. (2013). https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1109345

2. Kolaczkowska, E. & Kubes, P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. Nature Reviews Immunology (2013). https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3399

3. Hall, S. W. & Cooke, A. Autoimmunity and inflammation: Murine models and translational studies. Mammalian Genome (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00335-011-9338-2

4. Kunnumakkara, A. B. et al. Chronic diseases, inflammation, and spices: How are they linked? Journal of Translational Medicine (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1381-2

5. Van Linthout, S. & Tschöpe, C. Inflammation – Cause or Consequence of Heart Failure or Both? Current Heart Failure Reports (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11897-017-0337-9

6. Libby, P. Inflammatory Mechanisms: The Molecular Basis of Inflammation and Disease. Nutr. Rev. (2007). https://doi.org/10.1301/nr.2007.dec.S140-S146

7. Turner, M. D., Nedjai, B., Hurst, T. & Pennington, D. J. Cytokines and chemokines: At the crossroads of cell signalling and inflammatory disease. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research (2014).

8. O'Shea, J. & Paul, W. E. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4 + T cells. Science (2010). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1178334

9. O'Garra, A. & Arai, N. The molecular basis of T helper 1 and T helper 2 cell differentiation. Trends in Cell Biology (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(00)01856-0

10. de Waal Malefyt, R. Interleukin 10(IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. J. Exp. Med. (1991). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.174.5.1209

11. O'Garra, A., Gabryšová, L. & Spits, H. Quantitative events determine the differentiation and function of helper T cells. Nature Immunology (2011). https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2003

12. Wan, Y. Y. GATA3: A master of many trades in immune regulation. Trends in Immunology (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2014.04.002

13. Mosmann, T. R. & Coffman, R. L. TH1 and TH2 Cells: Different Patterns of Lymphokine

Secretion Lead to Different Functional Properties. Annu. Rev. Immunol. (1989). <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.07.040189.001045</u>

14. Romagnani, S. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology (2000).

15. Laveti, D. et al. Anti-inflammatory treatments for chronic diseases: a review. Inflamm.AllergyDrugTargets(2013).https://doi.org/10.2174/18715281113129990053

16. Płóciennikowska, A., Hromada-Judycka, A., Borzęcka, K. & Kwiatkowska, K. Co-operation of TLR4 and raft proteins in LPS-induced pro-inflammatory signaling. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-014-1762-5

17. Oeckinghaus, A. & Ghosh, S. The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology (2009). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000034

18. Zhang, H. & Sun, S. C. NF-??B in inflammation and renal diseases. Cell and Bioscience (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-015-0056-4

19. Tak, P. P., Firestein, G. S., Tak, P. P. & Firestein, G. S. NF-kappaB: a key role in<br/>inflammatory diseases.J. Clin.Invest.(2001).https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI11830

20. Sutterwala, F. S., Haasken, S. & Cassel, S. L. Mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12458

21. Liu, T., Zhang, L., Joo, D. & Sun, S.-C. NF-κB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct. Target. Ther. (2017).

22. D'Amato, G. et al. Meteorological conditions, climate change, new emerging factors, and asthma and related allergic disorders. A statement of the World Allergy Organization. World Allergy Organization Journal (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40413-015-0073-0

23. D'Amato, G. et al. Allergenic pollen and pollen allergy in Europe. Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2007).

24. Burney, P. et al. The distribution of total and specific serum IgE in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (1997). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-6749(97)70048-4

25. Traidl-Hoffmann, C. et al. Impact of pollen on human health: More than allergen carriers? International Archives of Allergy and Immunology (2003). https://doi.org/10.1159/000070428

26. Suphioglu, C. et al. Mechanism of grass-pollen-induced asthma. Lancet (1992).

https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(92)90864-Y

27. Al-Rubaish, A. M. Thunderstorm-associated bronchial asthma: a forgotten but very present epidemic. J. Family Community Med. (2007).

28. Schäppi, G. F., Taylor, P. E., Staff, I. A., Rolland, J. M. & Suphioglu, C. Immunologic significance of respirable atmospheric starch granules containing major birch allergen Bet v 1. Allergy Eur. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (1999).

29. Abbas Abul K., Lichtman;, A. H. & Pillai, S. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. Elsevier (2014).

30. Jabara, H. H., Weng, Y., Sannikova, T. & Geha, R. S. TRAF2 and TRAF3 independently mediate Ig class switching driven by CD40. Int. Immunol. (2009). https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxp013

31. Kracker, S. & Durandy, A. Insights into the B cell specific process of immunoglobulin classswitchrecombination.ImmunologyLettershttps://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2011.02.004

32. McGowan, E. C. & Saini, S. Update on the performance and application of basophil activation tests. Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep. (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-012-0324-x

33. Akdis, C. A. Therapies for allergic inflammation: Refining strategies to induce tolerance. Nature Medicine (2012). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2754</u>

34. Kay, A. B. Overview of 'allergy and allergic diseases: With a view to the future'. British<br/>BulletinMedicalBulletinhttps://doi.org/10.1258/0007142001903481

35. Cookson, W. The immunogenetics of asthma and eczema: A new focus on the epithelium.<br/>NatureReviewsImmunology(2004).https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1500

36. Bieber, T. Atopic dermatitis. Annals of Dermatology (2010). https://doi.org/10.5021/ad.2010.22.2.125

37. McAlpine, S. M., Enoksson, M., Lunderius-Andersson, C. & Nilsson, G. The effect of bacterial, viral and fungal infection on mast cell reactivity in the allergic setting. Journal of Innate Immunity (2011). https://doi.org/10.1159/000323350

38. Zhang, S., Sun, W. Y., Wu, J. J. & Wei, W. TGF-β signaling pathway as a pharmacological target in liver diseases. Pharmacological Research (2014). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2014.05.005</u>

39. Santiba-ez, J. F., Quintanilla, M. & Bernabeu, C. TGF- $\beta$ /TGF- $\beta$  receptor system and its role in physiological and pathological conditions. Clin. Sci. (Lond). (2011).

40. Baardsnes, J., Hinck, C. S., Hinck, A. P. & O'Connor-McCourt, M. D. T??R-II discriminates the high- and low-affinity TGF-?? isoforms via two hydrogen-bonded ion Pairs. Biochemistry (2009).

https://doi.org/10.1021/bi8019004

41. Galat, A. Common structural traits for cystine knot domain of the TGFβ superfamily of proteins and three-fingered ectodomain of their cellular receptors. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. (2011). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-011-0643-4</u>

42. Kehrl, J. H. et al. Production of transforming growth factor beta by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth. J. Exp. Med. (1986). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.163.5.1037

43. Travis, M. A. & Sheppard, D. TGF-β Activation and Function in Immunity. Annu. Rev. Immunol. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120257

44. Banchereau, J., Pascual, V. & O'Garra, A. From IL-2 to IL-37: The expanding spectrum of anti-inflammatory cytokines. Nature Immunology (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2406

45. Massagué, J. How cells read TGF-beta signals. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. (2000). https://doi.org/10.1038/35043051

46. Rudensky, A. Y. Regulatory T cells and Foxp3. Immunol. Rev. (2011). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01018.x

47. Bilate, A. M. & Lafaille, J. J. Induced CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in immune tolerance.Annu.Rev.Immunol.(2012).https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075043

48. Moustakas, A. & Heldin, C. H. Non-Smad TGF-beta signals. J. Cell Sci. (2005). https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02554

49. Zhang, Y. E. Non-Smad pathways in TGF-beta signaling. Cell Res. (2009). https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2008.328

50. Hanyu, A. et al. The N domain of Smad7 is essential for specific inhibition of transforming growth factor- $\beta$  signaling. J. Cell Biol. (2001). <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200106023</u>

51. Mochizuki, T. et al. Roles for the MH2 domain of Smad7 in the specific inhibition of transforming growth factor- $\beta$  superfamily signaling. J. Biol. Chem. (2004). <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M313977200</u>

52. Hayashi, H. et al. The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGF $\beta$  receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGF $\beta$  signaling. Cell (1997). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80303-7</u>

53. Itoh, S. & ten Dijke, P. Negative regulation of TGF-beta receptor/Smad signal transduction. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. (2007).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2007.02.015

54. Park, S. H. Fine tuning and cross-talking of TGF-beta signal by inhibitory Smads. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. (2005).

55. Kawasaki, T. & Kawai, T. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Frontiers in Immunology (2014).

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00461

56. Kim, S. II & Choi, M. E. TGF-β-activated kinase-1: New insights into the mechanism of TGF-ß signaling and kidney disease. Kidney Research and Clinical Practice (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.krcp.2012.04.322

57. Saraiva, M. & O'Garra, A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nature Immunology Reviews (2010). https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2711

58. Jaffer, U., Wade, R. G. & Gourlay, T. Cytokines in the systemic inflammatory response syndrome: a review. HSR Proc. Intensive Care Cardiovasc. Anesth. (2010).

59. Gazzinelli, R. T., Oswald, I. P., James, S. L. & Sher, A. IL-10 inhibits parasite killing and nitrogen oxide production by IFN-gamma-activated macrophages. J. Immunol. (1992).

60. Fiorentino, D. F., Zlotnik, A., Mosmann, T. R., Howard, M. & O'Garra, A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J. Immunol. (1991).

61. Berti, F. C. B., Pereira, A. P. L., Cebinelli, G. C. M., Trugilo, K. P. & Brajão de Oliveira, K. The role of interleukin 10 in human papilloma virus infection and progression to cervical carcinoma. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2017.03.002

62. Buelens, C. et al. Interleukin-10 prevents the generation of dendritic cells from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells cultured with interleukin-4 and granulocyte/macrophage-Immunol. colony-stimulating factor. Eur. J. (1997). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830270326

63. Chang, Q. et al. Maturation of Mobilized Peripheral Blood Progenitor Cells: Preclinical and Hematother. Phase Clinical Studies. J. L (1995). https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.1.1995.4.289

64. Verma, R. et al. A network map of Interleukin-10 signaling pathway. J. Cell Commun. Signal. (2016). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12079-015-0302-x

65. Ferreira, F. Dissection of immunoglobulin E and T lymphocyte reactivity of isoforms of the major birch pollen allergen Bet v 1: potential use of hypoallergenic isoforms for immunotherapy. Exp. Med. (1996). J. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.183.2.599

66. Swoboda, I. et al. Isoforms of Bet v 1, the major birch pollen allergen, analyzed by liquid chromatography, mass spectrometry, and cDNA cloning. The Journal of biological chemistry

(1995). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.6.2607

67. Asam, C. et al. Bet v 1 - a Trojan horse for small ligands boosting allergic sensitization?Clin.Exp.Allergy(2014).https://doi.org/10.1111/cea.12361

68. Smith, M. et al. Geographic and temporal variations in pollen exposure across Europe. Allergy Eur. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2014).

69. Rentzos, G., Lundberg, V., Stotzer, P. O., Pullerits, T. & Telemo, E. Intestinal allergic inflammation in birch pollen allergic patients in relation to pollen season, IgE sensitization profile and gastrointestinal symptoms. Clin. Transl. Allergy (2014).

70. Wambre, E. Effect of allergen-specific immunotherapy on CD4+ T cells. Current OpinioninAllergyandClinicalImmunology(2015).https://doi.org/10.1097/ACI.0000000000216

71. Ceuppens, J. L., Bullens, D., Kleinjans, H. & Van Der Werf, J. Immunotherapy with a modified birch pollen extract in allergic rhinoconjunctivitis: Clinical and immunological effects. Clin. Exp. Allergy (2009). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2009.03379.x

72. Akdis, C. A. & Akdis, M. Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy and immune tolerance to allergens. World Allergy Organ. J. (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40413-015-0063-2

73. Kappen, J. H., Durham, S. R., Veen, H. I. T. & Shamji, M. H. Applications and mechanisms of immunotherapy in allergic rhinitis and asthma. Therapeutic Advances in Respiratory Disease (2017). https://doi.org/10.1177/1753465816669662

75. Valenta, R., Linhart, B., Swoboda, I. & Niederberger, V. Recombinant allergens for allergen-specific immunotherapy: 10 years anniversary of immunotherapy with recombinant allergens. Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2011).

76. van der Valk, J. P. M., De Jong, N. W. & Gerth van Wijk, R. Review on immunotherapy in airway allergen sensitised patients. Netherlands Journal of Medicine (2015).

77. Burks, A. W. et al. Update on allergy immunotherapy: American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology/European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology/PRACTALL consensus report. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.049

78. Larché, M., Akdis, C. A. & Valenta, R. Immunological mechanisms of allergen-specificimmunotherapy.NatureReviewsImmunologyhttps://doi.org/10.1038/nri1934

79. Frew, A. J. Allergen immunotherapy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.064 80. Akdis, C. A. & Akdis, M. Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.11.030

81. Bohle, B. et al. Cooking birch pollen-related food: Divergent consequences for IgE- and T cell-mediated reactivity in vitro and in vivo. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2006.03.011

82. Akdis, M. & Akdis, C. A. Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy: Multiple suppressor factors at work in immune tolerance to allergens. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.12.1088

83. Francis, J. N. et al. Grass pollen immunotherapy: IL-10 induction and suppression of late responses precedes IgG4 inhibitory antibody activity. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2008). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.01.072</u>

84. Aslam, A., Chan, H., Warrell, D. A., Misbah, S. & Ogg, G. S. Tracking Antigen-Specific T-Cells during Clinical Tolerance Induction in Humans. PLoS One (2010). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011028

85. Suárez-Fueyo, A. et al. Grass tablet sublingual immunotherapy downregulates the TH2 cytokine response followed by regulatory T-cell generation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.09.043

86. Akdis, M. et al. Interleukins, from 1 to 37, and interferon-γ: Receptors, functions, and roles in diseases. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.11.050

87. Smith, G. P. Filamentous fusion phage: Novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface. Science (80-.). (1985).

88. Liu, J. K. et al. Phage display discovery of novel molecular targets in glioblastomainitiating cells. Cell Death Differ. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.65

89. Fukunaga, K. & Taki, M. Practical tips for construction of custom peptide libraries and affinity selection by using commercially available phage display cloning systems. Journal of Nucleic Acids (2012). https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/295719

90. Zanconato, S., Minervini, G., Poli, I. & Lucrezia, D. D. Selection Dynamic of Escherichia coli Host in M13 Combinatorial Peptide Phage Display Libraries. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. (2011).

91. Kehoe, J. W. & Kay, B. K. Filamentous phage display in the new millennium. Chemical Reviews (2005). https://doi.org/10.1021/cr000261r

92. Hetian, L. et al. A novel peptide isolated from a phage display library inhibits tumor growth and metastasis by blocking the binding of vascular endothelial growth factor to its kinase domain receptor. J. Biol. Chem. (2002).

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M203103200

93. Rowley, M. J., O'Connor, K. & Wijeyewickrema, L. Phage display for epitope determination: A paradigm for identifying receptor-ligand interactions. Biotechnology Annual Review (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1387-2656(04)10006-9

94. De Berardinis, P. & Haigwood, N. L. New recombinant vaccines based on the use of prokaryotic antigen-display system. Expert Review of Vaccines (2004). <u>https://doi.org/10.1586/14760584.3.6.673</u>

95. Sergeeva, A., Kolonin, M. G., Molldrem, J. J., Pasqualini, R. & Arap, W. Display technologies: Application for the discovery of drug and gene delivery agents. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2006.09.018

96. Goulart, L. R. et al. Biomarkers for Serum Diagnosis of Infectious Diseases and Their Potential Application in Novel Sensor Platforms. Crit. Rev. Immunol. (2010). https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevImmunol.v30.i2.70

97. Hussack, G. et al. Neutralization of Clostridium difficile toxin A with single-domain antibodies targeting the cell receptor binding domain. J. Biol. Chem. (2011). <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.198754</u>

98. Wang, Y. et al. Affinity maturation to improve human monoclonal antibody neutralization potency and breadth against hepatitis C virus. J. Biol. Chem. (2011). <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.290783</u>

99. Li, T. et al. A neutralization scFv antibody against IL-1beta isolated from a NIPA-based bacterial display library. Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. (2013). https://doi.org/10.2174/138920101131400223

100. Casale, T. B. & Stokes, J. R. Future forms of immunotherapy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2010.10.034

101. Stirling, R. G. & Chung, K. F. Future treatments of allergic diseases and asthma. British<br/>Medical<br/>bulletinBulletin(2000).https://doi.org/10.1258/0007142001903526

102. Sozzani, S. et al. Chronic inflammatory diseases: Do immunological patterns drive the choice of biotechnology drugs? A critical review. Autoimmunity (2014). https://doi.org/10.3109/08916934.2014.897333

103. Rutella, S. et al. Infliximab therapy inhibits inflammation-induced angiogenesis in the mucosa of patients with crohn's disease. Am. J. Gastroenterol. (2011). https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2011.48

104. Frenzel, A., Schirrmann, T. & Hust, M. Phage display-derived human antibodies in clinical development and therapy. mAbs (2016). https://doi.org/10.1080/19420862.2016.1212149 105. Nixon, A. E., Sexton, D. J. & Ladner, R. C. Drugs derived from phage display from candidate identification to clinical practice. MAbs (2014). https://doi.org/10.4161/mabs.27240

106. Luzar, J., Štrukelj, B. & Lunder, M. Phage display peptide libraries in molecular allergology: from epitope mapping to mimotope-based immunotherapy. Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2016).

107. Akdis, M. Healthy immune response to allergens: T regulatory cells and more. CurrentOpinioninImmunology(2006).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2006.06.003

108. Movérare, R., Elfman, L., Vesterinen, E., Metso, T. & Haahtela, T. Development of new IgE specificities to allergenic components in birch pollen extract during specific immunotherapy studied with immunoblotting and Pharmacia CAP System??? Allergy Eur. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (2002).

## CAPÍTULO II

## IL10-LIKE PEPTIDE AS A POTENT IMMUNOMODULATOR IN ALLERGIC INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

(Artigo escrito de acordo com as normas da revista Nature Communications)

## IL10-like peptide as a potent immunomodulator in allergic inflammatory response

Emilia R. Vaz<sup>1,2</sup>, Galber R. Araujo<sup>2</sup>, Patricia T. Fujimura<sup>1</sup>, Peter Lackner<sup>2</sup>, Carlos Ueira-Vieira<sup>1</sup>, Fatima Ferreira<sup>2</sup>, Luiz Ricardo Goulart<sup>1</sup>

1Laboratory of Nanobiotechnology, Institute of Biotechnology, Federal University of Uberlândia, Brazil

2Department of Molecular Biology, University of Salzburg, Austria

## **Corresponding author**

Luíz Ricardo Goulart Filho

Federal University of Uberlândia, Institute of Biotechnology, Laboratory of Nanobiotecnology. R. Acre, Bl 2E, Room 228, Campus Umuarama, CEP 38400-902, Uberlândia, Brazil. Phone: 55 34 32182203. Email: lrgoulart@ufu.br

## Abstract

The cytokine IL-10 plays a regulatory role in the immune response produced by different cells controlling the activation of inflammatory and allergic cells and production of cytokines. This study aimed to select IL-10-like peptides, by the Phage Display methodology, and investigate the capacity of the peptides selected to control inflammatory and allergic responses. One hundred and one peptides were selected, of which 4 were synthetized and had their three-dimensional structures predicted. Reporter cells were utilized to investigate peptide interference in the NF $\kappa$ B, IFN- $\alpha$  and TLR4 pathways. Pep1 showed the best capacity and stability to decrease this signaling. Pep1 was chosen to evaluate the ability to decrease RBL degranulation, BMDC activation and T cell proliferation. The data obtained showed the capacity of Pep1 to diminish the allergic response and inhibit the inflammatory pathways in the assays performed. This synthetic peptide can be studied in order to develop new molecules with pharmaceutical potential to control inflammatory allergic diseases.

Keywords: IL-10, Inflammation, Allergy, Treatment

## Introduction

Interleukin 10 (IL-10) is a regulatory cytokine produced by different types of cells: monocytes, T cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer (NK) cells and B cells<sup>1,2,3</sup>. Because of this, IL-10 has been shown to be an important molecule associated with autoimmune, inflammatory and allergic diseases due to its capacity to regulate humoral and cellular immune response<sup>4</sup>. Allergy is an inflammatory condition with a T helper 2 (Th2) induction leading to pathological disease<sup>5</sup>, while the importance of IL-10 production is its capacity to induce shut down inflammatory responses<sup>6</sup>.

IL-10 binds in to IL-10 receptor (IL10R), thus activating Jak1/Tyk2 proteins<sup>7</sup>. STAT3 is the main protein expressed to regulate, negatively, the inflammatory response, leading to down-regulating some cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6<sup>8</sup>. This regulatory process mediated by IL-10 is essential for understanding how this cytokine controls the inflammatory response, activating a major molecular pathways to resolve the inflammation<sup>9</sup> and allergic response<sup>10</sup>. Therefore, new strategies using the IL-10 molecule to modulate the cytokine production have been used in humans<sup>11</sup> to control inflammatory responses<sup>12</sup>. Recombinant IL-10, for instance, already has been shown to be safe, well tolerated and effective in Crohn's disease patients<sup>13</sup>.

To develop new molecules with pharmaceutical approaches, the Phage Display (PD) methodology can be a good option since it allows us to select small molecules that can mimic specific amino acids from large proteins and induce the same or better response as expected with the nature molecule<sup>14</sup>. Peptides selected by PD show low toxicity and high receptor/protein affinity<sup>15</sup>.

The present work aimed to select peptides with the same activity as recombinant IL-10 and investigate the action of this peptide in regulating allergic and inflammatory responses. Pep1 showed the best modulatory activity upon inflammatory pathways and cytokines as well allergic response in basophils.

## Results

## Peptide selection by Phage Display

One hundred and one peptides were obtained randomly after three rounds of selection using a PhD-7mer and PhD12 random peptide library. The selection was performed against the J774 cell line; for this, a competitive elution with rIL-10 was adopted to select peptides with IL-10 receptor affinity (Table 1 and 2).

A pre-screening was performed in PBMC using phage supernatant to select phages from PhD-7mer (Figure 1A) and PhD12 (Figure 1B) libraries.

The most reactive phages were purified and tested against PBMC to confirm the capacity of the selected phages to bind to cells receptors (Figure 1 C and D). The phages IL10Pep10 (from PhD-7mer), IL10Pep48 and IL10Pep67 (from PhD12) had the highest reactivity (P<0.0005).



**Figure 1:** Pre-screening ELISA Assay. (A) ELISA in PBMC from healthy donors using phageparticle supernatant from PhD-7mer library. The IL10Pep2, IL10Pep10, IL10Pep33, IL10Pep41 and IL10Pep46 phage clones showed significant reactivity (P < 0.05; P < 0.05; P < 0.05; P < 0.005; P < 0.005; P < 0.005; P < 0.005 and P < 0.005 respectively) compared to wild-type phage. (B) ELISA in PBMC from healthy donors using phage-particle supernatant from PhD-12 library. The IL10Pep48, IL10Pep49, IL10Pep56, IL10Pep67, IL10Pep77 and IL10Pep92 phage clones showed significant reactivity (P < 0.0005; P < 0.0005; P < 0.0005; P < 0.0005; P < 0.005 and P < 0.0005, respectively) compared to wild-type phage. (C) Elisa in J774 cell line.

The phages with high reactivity in ELISA PBMC were purified x1011 phages/well), and the reactivity was measured. The IL10Pep10 presented higher reactivity (P < 0.0005) compared to wild-type phage; (D) IL10Pep48 and IL10Pep67 showed higher reactivity (P<0.0005 and P<0.0005, respectively) compared to wild-type. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*\*P<0.005.

**Table 1**: Phage clones selected from PhD7mer**Table 2:** Phage clones selected from PhD12

Clones	Sequence
IL10Pep1	PLHHPVT
IL10Pep2	PRDYQTP
ll 10Pep3	PI WSPES
II 10Pen4	VSSESHA
історерь	
IL10Pep/	PLPSRLA
IL10Pep8	PLTLLTA
IL10Pep9	PHSAFGF
IL10Pep10	SAVIKSS
IL10Pep11	IRFSAAG
IL10Pep12	SRAPVGV
IL10Pep13	HSPAATV
II 10Pep14	ESSGPLV
II 10Pep15	SELESSO
IL 10 Pop 17	IOTRESV
	PSPLIKA
IL10Pep19	LAKSPYT
IL10Pep20	GGISAQS
IL10Pep21	AVPLRHS
IL10Pep22	LLDMILT
IL10Pep23	APVPPFR
IL10Pep24	QGRWPFA
IL10Pep25	VALPSFF
IL10Pep26	VPGLTTV
IL10Pep27	HASSSPG
II 10Pen28	YI SI I PG
II 10Pen29	I FPOTAY
IL 10 Pop20	
	SILFLFL
IL10Pep32	PGALLRH
IL10Pep33	RLIPASM
IL10Pep34	LVPTYFT
IL10Pep35	VPGPALR
IL10Pep36	TSQIRSA
IL10Pep37	RSGTPPL
IL10Pep38	TTKATPF
IL10Pep39	PGPWLPF
IL10Pen40	VBLL SOA
II 10Pon41	PYOPPSR
1110000040	
IL 101-6042	
	LUCUDOUN
	PSKUSPN
IL10Pep45	PGLSPHA
IL10Pep46	FGDPAGS

Clones	Sequence
IL10Pep47	YMKPHYLHRDSR
II 10Pen48	MTGSBATEPSAP
II 10Pen49	SGSEKYWAEGPG
IL 10Pop50	
IL I UPep5 I	YGNSSHLYIKPI
IL10Pep52	EMRPGSYINNIW
IL10Pep53	AHWTHPLIYNSR
IL10Pep54	TLTPYYGLRAFP
IL10Pep55	MNPYDPPQSHKA
IL10Pep56	FSTVPRASEHTE
IL10Pep57	ETHNVAGLHLSS
IL10Pep58	WNIPTPWMSRPP
IL10Pep59	AGPWWPVVLNPL
IL10Pep60	ATTILTDTVTFW
II 10Pep61	KI WOIPDI SELK
II 10Pen62	SHTTEAADI BTH
IL I UPep65	FURVEAYSHRID
IL10Pep66	THINLAAMRVPP
IL10Pep67	FDIQRMEFRMPP
IL10Pep68	SAHSPGAYPRTS
IL10Pep69	DPTAMLPSFYYW
IL10Pep70	QVNFAYWVSSPE
IL10Pep71	SNAFEYWSHYPP
IL10Pep72	RXLRXITPNANV
IL10Pep73	NAPPATHEPFLT
IL10Pep74	VLPEIASWRAER
IL10Pep75	RASLPLERPVVA
IL10Pep76	YEARKAWVLNHL
IL10Pep77	HSLRWDWSPWKT
IL10Pep78	SHPNMEAAFSYW
ll 10Pep79	OSFEYWPIMPVS
II 10Pep80	EPYHEI MHPTHY
II 10Pen81	HSVSNIBPMEPS
IL I UPep86	HHSFWYGPPQSP
IL10Pep87	LPSELHNEWDMR
IL10Pep88	DHINRPKTYAPT
IL10Pep89	HHPINHIAPMSN
IL10Pep90	LPPSRTSPHQMH
IL10Pep91	VNFEYWIQGMPT
IL10Pep92	SAFLNGPMSRTL
IL10Pep93	IHTNSTVTLLSG
IL10Pep94	ILAAESGMNPAV
IL10Pep95	IDSIGHKLRGTK
IL10Pep96	TTDAPWTHKTIY
IL10Pep97	YHGATVSPPSNV
IL10Pep98	NVSAIDOTWGYI
II 10Pen99	I SI HI SPTYOPI
II 10Pen100	AYYPONHKSNAF
IL10Pep101	QSISYWTGPTHL

## In Silico analysis and structure of peptides

The peptides with high affinity with the cell receptors were synthesized, and the threedimensional structure was predicted.

IL10Pep10 peptide (Pep1) (Figure 2A) from the PhD-7mer also had its sequence synthetized with no disulfide bond (Pep2) (Figure 2B). Since Pep1 is the only peptide with a disulfide bond, its structure is more compacted compared to Pep3 (Figure 2C) and Pep 4 (Figure 2D). The black sphere is the C-alpha atom of the first residue, just for orientation, whereas the hydrophilic residues are in blue and the hydrophobic in red.

The aggregation behavior of Pep1, Pep2, Pep3 and Pep4 in solution was determined by DLS (Figure 2E). All synthetic peptides were almost 100% monomeric in solution. The measured hydrodynamic radio of the peptides were similar among Pep 1 (0.82nm), Pep 2 (0.74nm), Pep 3(0.79nm) and Pep 4 (0.86 nm).



**Figure 2:** Predictions of peptide structures. In red is represented the hydrophobic and in blue hydrophilic amino acids. The first amino acids in each peptide are represented in black. (A) Pep 1 (B) Pep 2 (C) Pep 3 and (D) Pep4. (E) Analysis of the aggregation behavior of synthetic peptides in solution analyzed by DLS.

## **Treatment of reporter cells**

In order to investigate the capacity of peptides to interfere in NF $\kappa$ B, IFN and TLR4 pathways, reporter cell lines were used. To analyze whether the peptides alone (with no activation molecules) could induce any type of activation, the peptides alone were tested in the reporter cell lines for 12, 24 and 48 hours of treatment (Supplementary Figure 1-3). In all reporter cells and at all-time points tested, the peptides did not induce any type of activation when they were alone, without any inflammatory environment to induce the activation of NF $\kappa$ B, IFN or TLR4 pathways.

The pretreatment with Pep 1 in all dilutions tested was able to decrease the NF $\kappa$ B activation after 12, 24 and 48 hours (P<0.0005) of TNF- $\alpha$  stimuli (Figure 3A, B and C). The pretreatment with Pep 2 at 100  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 0.5  $\mu$ M and 0.1  $\mu$ M also decreased NF $\kappa$ B activation (P<0.0005) after 12, 24 and 48 hours (Figure 3A, B and C). Pep 3 at 0.05  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) reduced the pathway activation after 12 hours of treatment (Figure 3A) and 0.01  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) after 48 hours (Figure 3C). Pep 4 only was able to decrease the activation at 0.05  $\mu$ M, 0.01  $\mu$ M and 0.005  $\mu$ M after 48 hours of treatment (Figure 3 C). However, when the cells were pretreated with TNF-  $\alpha$  and the peptides were supplemented with Pep 1 at 10  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 0.5  $\mu$ M, 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), the concentrations 0.05  $\mu$ M and 0.001  $\mu$ M (P<0.005) decreased the activation after 12 hours of treatment (Figure 3D). Pep 2 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) and 1  $\mu$ M (P<0.005); Pep 3 at 0.005  $\mu$ M (P<0.005) and Pep 4 at 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) were also able to decrease NF $\kappa$ B signaling after 12 hours (Figure 3D).

Following 24 hours of treatment with Pep 1 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.0005), 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 1  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.005  $\mu$ M (P<0.0005), 0.001  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), and 0.0001  $\mu$ M (P<0.005); Pep 2 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.0005), 5  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 1  $\mu$ M (0.0005), and 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05); Pep 3 at 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.005  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) and 0.001  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), the



analyzed signaling pathway was diminished (Figure 3E). After 48 hours of treatment, only

Pep 1 at 0.001  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) decreased the pathway (Figure 3F).

**Figure 3:** NF $\kappa$ B expression analysis in Jurkart-Dual reporter cells. Cells were treated for 1 hour with peptides, and TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) was added. Luciferase was measured at (A) 12 hours of treatment (B) 24 hours of treatment and (C) 48 hours of treatment. Cells were treated for 1 hour with TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL), and the peptides were added. Luciferase was measured at (D) 12 hours of treatment (E) 24 hours of treatment and (F) 48 hours of treatment. TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) was used as a positive control and rIL-10 (0.4ng/mL) as a negative control. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*\*P<0.0005.

The IFN signaling pathway analysis demonstrated that the pathway activation was decreased only when Jurkat cells were pretreated with Pep 1 at 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.005) for 12

hours (Figure 4A); Pep 3 at 100  $\mu$ M (0.005) for 48 hours (Figure 4C); and Pep 4 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.005) and 0.05  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) for 48 hours (Figure 4C). When the cells were pretreated with IFN the peptides did not have the capacity to interfere in the pathway activation (Figure 4D, E and F).



**Figure 4:** IFN expression analysis in Jurkart-Dual reporter cells. Cells were treated for 1 hour with peptides and IFN- $\alpha$  (10<sup>4</sup> EU/mL) was added. SEAP was measured at (A) 12 hours of treatment (B) 24 hours of treatment and (C) 48 hours of treatment. Cells were treated for 1 hour with IFN- $\alpha$  (10<sup>4</sup> EU/mL) and the peptides were added. SEAP was measured at (D) 12 hours of treatment (E) 24 hours of treatment and (F) 48 hours of treatment. IFN- $\alpha$  (10<sup>4</sup> EU/mL) was used as a positive control and rIL-10 (0.4ng/mL) as a negative control. \*P<0.05.

The HEK cells were used to investigate the capacity of peptides to reduce the TLR4 signaling pathway activation after 12 hours of treatment. The pretreatment with the peptides demonstrated that Pep 1 at 0.005  $\mu$ M (P<0.05); Pep 2 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.1

 $\mu$ M (P<0.0005); Pep 3 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) and Pep 4 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 5  $\mu$ M (p<0.05) and 1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) reduced the pathway activation (Figure 5A). On the other hand, when cells were pretreated with LPS and the peptides were added, the TLR4 pathway activation was reduced by Pep 1 at 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.05  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.01  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 0.005  $\mu$ M (P<0.005) and 0.001  $\mu$ M (P<0.005); Pep2 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 1  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.05  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) and 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05); Pep 3 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) and 0.1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05); Pep 4 at 100  $\mu$ M (P<0.005), 10  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05), 1  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) and 0.5  $\mu$ M (P<0.05) (Figure 5B).



**Figure 5:** TLR4 expression analysis in HEK reporter cells. (A) Cells were treated 1 hour with peptides and LPS (100ng/mL) was added and SEAP was measured at 12 hours and (B) cells were treated with LPS (100ng/mL) for 1 hour and the peptides were added and SEAP was measured at 12 hours. LPS (100ng/mL) was used as a positive control and rIL-10 (0.4ng/mL) as a negative control. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*P<0.005.

# Effect on dendritic and T cells after peptide treatment in an inflammatory and allergic environment

Murine dendritic cells from bone marrow were isolated from mice to analyze the effect of peptides on reducing the cellular activation. After 24 hours of treatment, the cellular analysis showed that only Pep 1 and 2 were able to interfere in co-stimulatory molecules on the dendritic cell surface. Pep 1 at 1  $\mu$ M decreased CD86+ expression (P<0.005), also Pep 1 at 10  $\mu$ M decreased the CD86+ and CD40+ expression (P<0.05). Pep 2 at 1  $\mu$ M reduced the expression of CD86+ and of CD40+ on the cell surface (P<0.005; P<0.05, respectively) (Figure 6A and B).



**Figure 6**: Murine BMDC treatment. (A) Cells CD11c+ CD86+ (B) CD11c+ CD40+ after 24 hours of treatment. Pep 1 at 1  $\mu$ M was able to decrease CD86+ expression (P<0.005). Pep1 at 10  $\mu$ M decreased CD86 and CD40 expression (P<0.05). Pep 2 at 1  $\mu$ M decreased CD86 (P<0.005) and CD40 (P<0.05) expression. LPS (100ng/mL) was used as positive control. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005.

In order to confirm the capacity of peptides to decrease dendritic cell activation, Pep 1 at  $\mu$ M 10 was chosen and T cell proliferation, from allergic patients, was measured after 24 hours of treatment. Pep 1 at this concentration decreased the proliferation of T cells (P<0.005) (Figure 7).



**Figure 7:** T cells from Allergic patient proliferation. After 24 hours of treatment, Pep1 decreased T cell proliferation. Cells were treated with Bet v 1, as positive control and a irrelevant peptide (IR) was used as a negative control.

## Pep1 action in basophil degranulation

The effect of Pep 1 on the IgE-mediated release was examined using rat basophilic leukemia cells transfected with the human Fc $\epsilon$ RI IgE receptor (hRBL). Therefore, hRBL cells were passively sensitized with serum from seven patients allergic to birch pollen. The cells were stimulated with the antigen and the resulting cross-linking of the allergen by immobilized IgEs caused a release of  $\beta$ - hexosaminidase.

When the cells were treated with Pep 1 at 1  $\mu$ M (Figure 8A) or rIL10 (Figure 8B), the amount of Bet v 1 necessary to induce the same amount of degranulation was higher when compared with the cells treated only with Bet v 1 (P<0.05).



**Figure 8:** Mediator release assay. Amount of rBet v 1 (ng/mL) necessary to induce a half maximal  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release using serum of seven birch-pollen-allergic donors after Pep 1 treatment (A) (P<0.05) and rIL10 (B). \*P<0.05.

## J774 cytokine production after Pep 1 treatment

After 24 hours of treatment the levels of IL-6, MCP-1 and TNF-  $\alpha$  released were measured. No interference in IL-10, IFN-  $\gamma$  or IL12p70 production was observed (data not shown). Cells treated with the Pep1 synthetic peptide alone, without LPS stimuli to induce an inflammatory response, were unable to induce any response (data not shown). Otherwise, when the cells were treated with Pep1 and LPS was employed to induce an inflammatory response, the peptide was able to decrease the production of IL-6, MCP-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ . Pep1 (1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M P<0.05 and 10 and 100  $\mu$ M P<0.0005) significantly reduced the levels of IL-6 (1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M, P<0.005) (Figure 9A); MCP-1 (Figure 9B) and TNF- $\alpha$  (1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M, P<0.005) (Figure 9C).



**Figure 9:** J774 cell line stimulus with Pep1. Pep1 at 1 $\mu$ M, 10 $\mu$ M and 100 $\mu$ M treatment followed by LPS (1mg/mL) incubation for 24 hours reduced inflammatory cytokines. Pep1 (1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M, P<0.05; P<0.0005; P<0.005) was able to decrease IL-6 production (A). Pep1 (1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M, P<0.05) was able to decrease MCP-1 production (B). Pep1 (1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M, P<0.005) was able to decrease TNF- $\alpha$  production (C). Every decrease was significant compared to cells treated only with LPS (positive control). \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*\*P<0.0005.

## Discussion

In this investigation, we have used the Phage Display (PD) methodology to select peptides able to bind in IL10R and cause an immunomodulatory action. The macrophage was utilized to select IL-10-like peptides since this cell type produces a high amount of IL- $10^7$  which is an important defense against pathogens in connection with an adaptive immune response<sup>18</sup>.

One hundred and one peptides were selected randomly, and after a pre-screening three phage clones IL10Pep10 (Pep1), IL10Pep48 (Pep4) and IL10Pep67 (Pep3) were chosen to be synthesized. In order to analyze whether the structure is determinant for binding activation and a cellular response or if only the sequence is sufficient to induce this effect, we decided to synthesize a single conformational peptide (with a disulfide bond) (Pep1) and also a linear one (without a disulfide bond) (Pep2). The structures of all 4 peptides were predicted to investigate their conformation differences (Figure 2). Pep 1 had the most compact structure compared with peptides 2, 3 and 4 (Figure 2A, B, C and D). Compact peptides were shown to be superior for inducing a response, since the conformation is very important for receptor activation<sup>19</sup>. All synthetic peptides were present as a monomer as shown in the DLS results (Figure 2E).

IL-10 cytokine binds to the IL-10R, thereby activating the JAK/STAT signaling<sup>20</sup>; and this pathway has a main mechanism for the cytokine production to control an inflammatory response<sup>21</sup>. However, different cytokines can activate this pathway so that the activation will be dependent on which JAK and STAT family is activated and thus responsible for inducing the anti-inflammatory effect or not<sup>22</sup>. SOCS 3 production is IL-10R-mediated and can interfere in the release of IkB from the NFkB complex in intact cells and/or blocks DNA-binding of NF-kB already present in the nucleus and as a consequence block the NFkB expression<sup>23,24</sup>. The SOCS3 production also can inhibit the

LPS signaling pathway, by TLR4 activation, although this mechanism is complex and not totally elucidated<sup>25</sup>. To investigate the capacity of peptides to block the activation of inflammatory pathways, reporter cells were pretreated with the peptides before or after addition of activation molecules (TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\alpha$  and LPS), in order to explore new strategies for anti-inflammatory treatment.

Following pretreatment with the synthetic peptides, Pep1 showed better capacity to interfere in the pathways analyzed, compared with Pep2, Pep3 and Pep4. At all concentrations tested and at all time points, Pep1 was able to reduce the NF $\kappa$ B expression; this response was maintained throughout 48 hours of treatment. Pep2 also interfered in this pathways even after 48 hours, but only at some concentrations tested (100  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 0.5  $\mu$ M and 0.1  $\mu$ M). The same action did not occur when the cells were treated with Pep3 or Pep4, so we conclude that these two peptides were incapable of inducing a stable response as observed in Pep1 and 2. At the same time, when the cells were pretreated with TNF-  $\alpha$  (to activate the pathway), we confirmed the best action of Pep1 even when the cells had already achieved activation; all the concentrations tested decreased the NF $\kappa$ B activation at 12 and 24 hours. Similar action was found in the TLR4 pathway was activated before the peptide treatment. This better action observed after Pep1 treatment can be explained by the disulfide bond leading to a better conformation necessary to activate the receptor and induce the decrease of the pathways investigated.

When Jurkat cells were used to investigate the peptides' capacity to inhibit the IFN- $\alpha$  pathway, some peptides produced a statistical decrease at specific concentrations, but this response may not be stable because, although IFN- $\alpha\beta$  also can induce the JAK-STAT signaling, the activation is triggered, preferentially, by STAT4, 1 and 2<sup>26</sup> instead of STAT3, as occurs after IL-10 binding to the IL-10R<sup>22</sup>. Furthermore, rIL-10 also can induce

IFN production suggesting that the cytokine is able to interact with both signaling pathways<sup>27</sup>.

In studies of the mechanism for immune tolerance to allergens, research has shown the role of IL-10 in reducing the expression of co-stimulatory molecules in APCs<sup>28</sup> and consequently, T cells will not be activated and proliferated, thereby suppressing the exacerbation of inflammation<sup>29</sup>, considered the critical pathway to prevent a severe allergic inflammatory response<sup>6</sup>. Corroborating this idea, Pep1 reduced the co-stimulatory molecules in dendritic cells (Figure 6) and was demonstrated to provide better capacity/stable action. Because of this, Pep1 was chosen for utilization in some experiments to investigate the regulatory action, an effect confirmed by decreased proliferation of T cells in allergic patients (Figure 7). However, TLR4 has been shown present in dendritic cells, since the Pep1 and 2 statistically decreased this activation pathway, in reporter cells, and also the co-stimulatory molecules in DC. We can accept the hypothesis that the peptides can act in both cases: directly in the TLR4 pathway to decrease the pro-inflammatory cytokine production and also reduce the antigen presentation to T cells and consequently diminish proliferation.

The other IL-10 action in allergic response is inhibiting the high-affinity IgE receptor (Fc $\epsilon$ RI) in murine and human mast cells, thus reducing the  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase release. Moreover, the cytokine interferes in the regulatory molecules (Fyn, Syk, Akt, and STAT5)<sup>30</sup> found in activated mast cells. Since mast cells and basophil present similar crosstalk between the Fc $\epsilon$ RI and IgE<sup>31</sup>, we can hypothesize that IL-10 has the same effect of decreasing the Fc $\epsilon$ RI expression in basophil as in mast cells, which may account for how Pep1 can decrease the basophil degranulation observed in the RBL assay (Figure 8).

Macrophages are important cells found in inflammatory responses. The LPS treatment induces NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK transcription<sup>32</sup> and thereafter the IL-6, MCP-1 and

TNF- $\alpha$  production<sup>33</sup>. However, the macrophage treatment with the IL-10 molecule, in an inflammatory environment, is able to down-regulate the TNF- $\alpha$ , MCP-1 and IL-6 production<sup>34</sup>. This finding suggests that Pep1 has a similar activity as the native molecule, since the treatment decreased these cytokines after J447 cell line treatment with LPS (Figure 9). MPC-1 and IL-6 production in an inflammatory environment enable the activation of monocytes, memory T lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells<sup>35</sup> and macrophages<sup>36</sup>. Because of this, a new strategy to block or decrease these cytokines should constitute an interesting treatment against a specific target<sup>37</sup>. Therefore, Pep1 can be used as a treatment given its ability to modulate NF $\kappa$ B and TLR4 signaling, DC activation, T-cell proliferation and basophil degranulation.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that PD methodology is a good choice to select peptides against specific targets. Pep1 showed better capacity to interact with cellular receptors in reporter cells, BMDCs, basophils, T cells and J774 cell line, and is able to regulate an allergic inflammatory response when compared to Pep2, Pep3 and Pep4. However, more studies are required to investigate precisely how Pep1 can modulate an allergic inflammatory response and explore possibilities for developing a new treatment with high efficiency. Bioinformatics also should be employed to investigate not only whether Pep1 can interact with IL10R but also the strength of the bond. All these questions can be clarified after analyzing the signaling pathway in cells treated with Pep1, to confirm the peptide action by showing which specific proteins or signaling was activated.

## Methods Phage Display

In order to select peptides binding to IL-10 receptors present in the J774-A1 cell line, the kits PhD-7mer and PhD12 (New England Biolabs) were used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Three selection rounds were performed. The amount of 1x10<sup>6</sup> J774-A1 cells were incubated with the 1x10<sup>11</sup> infectious phage particles of PhD-7mer or PhD12 library for 1 hour at 4°C. The phages that did not bind to the receptors present in the J774-A1 cell line were discarded by washes. In the first round, phages were washed five times with PBS 1x (137 mMNaCl, 10mM phosphate, 2.7 mMKCl, and pH 7.4) and then eluted by acid elution (Glycine 0.2M pH 2.2 and Tris 1M pH9.1). In the second and third rounds the phages were washed ten times with PBS 1x and then eluted with 15ng of recombinant IL-10 (rIL-10) (Sigma-Aldrich). Selected phages were amplified and purified using E.Coli 2738 and PEG-800/NaCl, respectively.

## **DNA Sequencing**

A total of one hundred and one phages were submitted for DNA sequencing. Phages clones were resolved in 100  $\mu$ L of sodium-iodide buffer (10mmol/L TrisHCl, pH 8.0, 1mmol/L EDTA, 4 mol/L NaI) and precipitated with absolute ethanol. Phage DNA was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes, washed with 70% ethanol, and resolved in 30  $\mu$ L of ddH<sub>2</sub>O. The sequencing primer (5'-OH CCC TCA TAG TTA GCG TAA CG-3, Biolabs) was mixed with 50 ng of phage DNA and the sequencing mix (DYEnamic ETDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit, Amersham Biosciences). Sequences analysis was performed in a MegaBace 1000 Genetic Analyzer (Amersham Biosciences).

### In Silico Analysis

DNA sequences were deduced by ExPASy Translate tool (http://web.expasy.org/translate/).

Structural prediction was performed by PEPstrMOD (https://omictools.com/pepstrmodtool) for sequences from PhD7-mer and PEP-FOLD3 (http://bioserv.rpbs.univ-parisdiderot.fr/services/PEP-FOLD/) to PhD12.

#### **Phage-ELISA Screening**

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from healthy volunteers using Ficool-Paque PLUS (GE Healthcare) following the manufacturer's instructions.

A total of  $1 \times 10^5$  PBMC were plated in a 96-well Maxisorp microtiter plate (NUNC<sup>TM</sup> Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA) and the cells were incubated overnight at 4°C. Each well was blocked with PBS-BSA5% (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour, washed one time with PBS 1X; then the phages were selected by the phage display methodology. The selected phages were added in each well at 100 µl or  $1 \times 10^{11}$  phage particles and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour and washed five times with PBS1X. HRP-conjugated anti-M13 (Roche Applied Science) diluted (1:5000) was added in each well and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. Each well was washed five times with PBS 1X, revealed with OPD SigmaFastTM (Sigma-Aldrich) and read at 492 nm. M13 phage without displaying any peptide was used as a negative control.

## **Peptide Synthesis**

The peptides were chemically synthesized by BACHEM AG (Bubendorf, Switzerland), by following the phage display manual<sup>16</sup>.

Peptide 1 (Pep1) corresponds to the IL10Pep10 sequence (HACSAVIKSSCGGGS), Peptide 2 (Pep2) has the same sequence as IL10Pep10 but with no disulfide bond (HASSAVIKSSSGGGS), Peptide 3 (pep3) to the IL10Pep67 (HAFDTQRMEFRMPPGGGS), and Peptide 4 (Pep4) corresponds to the IL10Pep48 (HCMTGSRATFPSAPGGGS).

## **Dynamic light scattering (DSL)**

Peptides were diluted at 1  $\mu$ g/mL and 100  $\mu$ l centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 10 min at RT. A total of 20  $\mu$ l of peptides was measured within the DLS 802 system (Viscotek Corp., Houston, TX, US). The software OmniSize<sup>TM</sup> (Viscotek Corp., Houston, TX, US) was employed to analyze the data.

#### **Reporter cell analysis**

To investigate the capacity of synthetic peptides to interfere in the NF $\kappa$ B, IFN and TLR4 signaling pathways, Jurkat-dual (InvivoGen) and HEK reporter cells (InvivoGen) were used according to the manufacturer's instructions. To investigate the NF $\kappa$ B signaling, the Jurkat-dual cells were pretreated with TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) (eBioscience) for 1 hour followed by peptide treatment at 100 $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 0.1  $\mu$ M for 12, 24 and 48 hours or pretreatment with peptides at 100 $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 0.1  $\mu$ M for 1 hour followed by treatment with TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) for 12, 24 and 48 hours. The same procedure was performed to analyze the IFN (Jurkat cells) and TLR4 (HEK cells) signaling but using IFN- $\alpha$  (10<sup>4</sup> EU/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich) and LPS (100ng/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich), respectively, as a positive control. All assays were performed in triplicate.

### Murine Dendritic Cells from Bone marrow (BMDCs) treatment

BMDCs cells were isolated from Balb/c mice in aseptic conditions. A total of  $1x10^6$  cells were plated in a 96-well plate and incubated overnight at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Pep1, Pep2, Pep3 and Pep4 at 1 and 10  $\mu$ M were added and the plate was incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. After, LPS (100ng/well) was added and the cells incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

BMDCs were centrifuged for 5 min at 1250g and the supernatant was stored at -80°C for cytokine analysis; next, the cells were washed with 200 $\mu$ l FACS buffer (composition). To the cells was added 60  $\mu$ l of CD11c-FITC (e-Bioscience), CD86-PE (e-Bioscience) and CD40-PerCyPC5 (e-Bioscience), diluted in FACS buffer and incubated for 30 min at 4°C in the dark.

The cells were washed twice with FACS buffer and centrifuged for 5 min at 1250g. Next, 100µl of FACS buffer was added and the cells were analyzed by flow cytometry (ACCURI).

## IL10Pep10 action in T cell proliferation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from birch pollen allergen patients were isolated from heparinized blood by Ficoll-Hypaque (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) densitygradient centrifugation. PBMC were stimulated with Pep1 (10  $\mu$ M) for 1 hour followed by Bet v 1 (1.3  $\mu$ g/mL) stimuli for 6 days. To analyze T cell proliferation [<sup>3</sup>H], thymidine (0.5  $\mu$  Ci/well) was added as previously described<sup>17</sup>.

## **RBL** Assay

Ag8 Cells were incubated with sera from allergic patients (1:10) for 1 hour at 37°C in 7% CO<sub>2</sub>. The Ag8 cells were centrifuged for 5 min at 250g at R.T. The supernatant (50 $\mu$ 1) was

added into each well containing  $2x10^6$ /mL huRBL cells maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Gibco - Life Technologies). The cells were incubated at 37°C in 7% CO<sub>2</sub> overnight.

The supernatant was discarded and Pep1 was added at 1 $\mu$ M and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in 7% CO<sub>2</sub>. The rIL-10 was used as a control. The cells were washed three times with 1X Tyored's buffer (19 g/L Tyrode's salt (Sigma), 0.2% BSA, g/L NaHCO<sub>3</sub>), and supplemented with Bet v 1 antigen solution diluted in 1X Tyored's buffer D<sub>2</sub>O; the plate was incubated 1 hour at 37°C in 7% CO<sub>2</sub>. The supernatant was transferred to another place and 50 $\mu$ l of assay solution was added (5 mL citrate buffer and 80  $\mu$ L 4-methyl umbelliferyl-N- acetyl-beta- D-glucosaminide) (Sigma-Aldrich). The absorbance of each well was determined on a microplate reader at 592nm.

## J774 Cell Line Stimuli

A total of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells from the J774-A1 cell line were added in each well; then, Pep1 was added at  $1 \mu$ M,  $10 \mu$ M and  $100 \mu$ M concentrations into incomplete RPMI Medium (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Lipopolysaccharide (1mg/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich) was added into each well and incubated for 24 hours. The cells were centrifuged and the supernatant was frozen at -80°C for cytokine analysis.

## Cytokine Assay

Cytometric bead array (CBA) mouse Inflammation Kit (BD Biosciences) was utilized to measure supernatant levels of IL-6, IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , MCP-1 and IL-12p70 according to the manufacturer's protocols. Briefly, sample and standards were incubated with a suspension of cytokine capture beads and a PE-conjugated detection reagent for 2 hours at room temperature. The mixture was washed and analyzed an Accuri C6 flow cytometer

(BD Biosciences). Cytokine quantification was performed using the software FCAP Array (BD Biosciences).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyzes were performed using GraphPad Prism 5.0 software. Comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA and *in vitro* comparisons between the treatments were performed using Tukey's test. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. P values less than 0.05 (\*P < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.005; \*\*\*P < 0.005) were considered significant.

## References

1. Blanco, P., Palucka, A. K., Pascual, V. & Banchereau, J. Dendritic cells and cytokines in human inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2007.10.004

2. Seki, S. et al. Role of liver NK cells and peritoneal macrophages in gamma interferon and interleukin-10 production in experimental bacterial peritonitis in mice. Infect. Immun. (1998).

3. Chomarat, P., Rissoan, M. C., Banchereau, J. & Miossec, P. Interferon gamma inhibits interleukin 10 production by monocytes. J. Exp. Med. (1993). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.177.2.523

4. Trifunović, J., Miller, L., Debeljak, Ž. & Horvat, V. Pathologic patterns of interleukin 10 expression--a review. Biochem. medica (2015). https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2015.004

5. Robinson, D. S. Th-2 cytokines in allergic disease. British Medical Bulletin (2000). https://doi.org/10.1258/0007142001903625

6. Coomes, S. M. et al. CD4 + Th2 cells are directly regulated by IL-10 during allergic airway inflammation. Mucosal Immunol. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2016.47

7. Moore, K. W., De Waal Malefyt, R., Coffman, R. L. & O 'garra, A. INTERLEUKIN-10 AND THE INTERLEUKIN-10 RECEPTOR. Annu. Rev. Immunol (2001).

8. Hu, X., Chen, J., Wang, L. & Ivashkiv, L. B. Crosstalk among Jak-STAT, Toll-like receptor, and ITAM-dependent pathways in macrophage activation. J. Leukoc. Biol. (2007). https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1206763

9. Ip, W. K. E., Hoshi, N., Shouval, D. S., Snapper, S. & Medzhitov, R. Anti-inflammatory effect of IL-10 mediated by metabolic reprogramming of macrophages. Science (80-.). (2017).

10. Hawrylowicz, C. M. Regulatory T cells and IL-10 in allergic inflammation. J. Exp. Med. (2005). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20052211

11. Nelson, D. R. et al. Long-term interleukin 10 therapy in chronic hepatitis C patients has a<br/>proviral and anti-inflammatory effect. Hepatology (2003).<br/>https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.1840380412

12. De Vries, J. E. Immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory properties of interleukin 10. Ann. Med. (1995). https://doi.org/10.3109/07853899509002465

13. Fedorak, R. N. et al. Recombinant human interleukin 10 in the treatment of patients with mild to moderately active Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology (2000). https://doi.org/10.1053/gast.2000.20229
14. Cunningham, A. D., Qvit, N. & Mochly-Rosen, D. Peptides and peptidomimetics as regulators of protein-protein interactions. Current Opinion in Structural Biology (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2016.12.009

15. Zorzi, A., Deyle, K. & Heinis, C. Cyclic peptide therapeutics: past, present and future. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology (2017).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2017.02.006

16. Barbas, C. F. et al. Phage Display: a laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press (2001).

17. Jahn-Schmid, B. et al. Humoral and Cellular Cross-Reactivity between Amb a 1, the Major Ragweed Pollen Allergen, and Its Mugwort Homolog Art v 6. J. Immunol. (2012). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1102445

18. Medzhitov, R. & Janeway Jr, C. A. Innate immunity: impact on the adaptive immune response. Curr. Opin. Immunol. (1997).https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-7915(97)80152-5

19. Mahdavi, M., Moreau, V. & Kheirollahi, M. Identification of B and T cell epitope based peptide vaccine from IGF-1 receptor in breast cancer. J. Mol. Graph. Model. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmgm.2017.06.004

20. Riley, J. K., Takeda, K., Akira, S. & Schreiber, R. D. Interleukin-10 Receptor Signaling through the JAK-STAT Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. (1999). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.23.16513

21. Alexander, W. S. & Hilton, D. J. The Role of Suppressors of Cytokine Signaling (SOCS) Proteins in Regulation of the Immune Response. Annu. Rev. Immunol. (2004).

22. Murray, P. J. The JAK-STAT signaling pathway: input and output integration. J. Immunol. (2007).

https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2623

23. Wang, P., Wu, P., Siegel, M. I., Egan, R. W. & Billah, M. M. Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor kappa B (NF kappa B) activation in human monocytes. IL-10 and IL-4 suppress cytokine synthesis mechanisms. by different J. Biol. Chem. (1995). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.16.9558

24. Schottelius, A. J., Mayo, M. W., Sartor, R. B. & Baldwin Jr., A. S. Interleukin-10 signaling blocks inhibitor of kappaB kinase activity and nuclear factor kappaB DNA binding. J Biol Chem (1999).

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.45.31868

25. Yoshimura, A., Naka, T. & Kubo, M. SOCS proteins, cytokine signalling and immune Reviews Immunology regulation. Nature (2007).https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2093

26. Berenson, L. S., Gavrieli, M., Farrar, J. D., Murphy, T. L. & Murphy, K. M. Distinct Characteristics of Murine STAT4 Activation in Response to IL-12 and IFN- . J. Immunol. (2006). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.8.5195

27. Ichikawa, T. et al. Involvement of IL-1beta and IL-10 in IFN-alpha-mediated antiviral gene induction in human hepatoma cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(02)00502-8

28. Fiorentino, D. F. et al. IL-10 acts on the antigen-presenting cell to inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells. J. Immunol. (1991).

29. Malefyt, R. D. et al. INTERLEUKIN-10 (IL-10) AND VIRAL-IL-10 STRONGLY REDUCE ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC HUMAN T-CELL PROLIFERATION BY DIMINISHING THE ANTIGEN-PRESENTING CAPACITY OF MONOCYTES VIA DOWN-REGULATION OF CLASS-II MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY COMPLEX EXPRESSION. J. Exp. Med. (1991).

30. Kennedy Norton, S. et al. IL-10 Suppresses Mast Cell IgE Receptor Expression and Signaling In Vitro and In Vivo. J. Immunol. (2008). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.5.2848

31. Hoffmann, H. J. News in Cellular Allergology: A Review of the Human Mast Cell and Basophil Granulocyte Literature from January 2013 to May 2015. International Archives of Allergy and Immunology (2016).

32. Guha, M. & Mackman, N. LPS induction of gene expression in human monocytes. Cellular Signalling (2001). doi:10.1016/S0898-6568(00)00149-2 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0898-6568(00)00149-2

33. Bueno-Silva, B. et al. Brazilian red propolis effects on peritoneal macrophage activity: Nitric oxide, cell viability, pro-inflammatory cytokines and gene expression. J. Ethnopharmacol. (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2017.06.015

34. Fiorentino, D. F., Zlotnik, A., Mosmann, T. R., Howard, M. & O'Garra, A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J. Immunol. (1991).

35. Deshmane, S. L., Kremlev, S., Amini, S. & Sawaya, B. E. Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1): An Overview. J. Interf. Cytokine Res. (2009).

36. Mauer, J. et al. Signaling by IL-6 promotes alternative activation of macrophages to limit endotoxemia and obesity-associated resistance to insulin. Nat. Immunol. (2014). https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2865

37. Ghasemi, H. Roles of IL-6 in Ocular Inflammation: A Review. Ocular Immunology and Inflammation (2018). https://doi.org/10.1080/09273948.2016.1277247

#### **Supplementary Figures**



**SF1:** NF $\kappa$ B expression analysis after peptide stimuli. Cells were treated 12, 24 and 48 hours with synthetic peptides (without no activation molecules). Luciferase was measured at (A) 12 hours of treatment (B) 24 hours of treatment (C) 48 hours of treatment. All the peptides concentrations tested were not able to induce any response. TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) was used as a positive control.



**SF2:** IFN expression analysis after peptide treatment. Cells were treated for (A) 12 hours (B) 24 hours and (C) 48 hours with peptides in different concentrations and with no activation molecule addition. All the concentrations tested were not able to induce IFN pathway activation. IFN- $\alpha$  (10<sup>4</sup> EU/mL) was used as positive control.



SF3: TLR4 expression analysis with no activation molecules. Cells were treated for 12 hours with peptides alone. No response was observed. LPS (100ng/mL) was used as positive control.

# CAPÍTULO III

# MODIFICATIONS OF TGF-B-LIKE PEPTIDES AFFECT TGFβRII ACTIVATION

(Artigo escrito de acordo com as normas da revista Nature Communications)

## Modifications of TGF-β-like peptides affect TGFβRII activation

Emilia R. Vaz<sup>1,2</sup>, Galber R. Araujo<sup>2</sup>, Olivia Mc-Kenna<sup>2</sup>, Lorenz Aglas<sup>2</sup>, Patricia Tiemi Fujimura<sup>1</sup>, Carlos Ueira-Vieira<sup>1</sup>, Fatima Ferreira<sup>2</sup>, Luiz Ricardo Goulart<sup>1</sup>

1Laboratory of Nanobiotechnology, Institute of Biotechnology, Federal University of Uberlândia, Brazil2Department of Molecular Biology, University of Salzburg, Austria

## **Corresponding author**

Luíz Ricardo Goulart Filho

Federal University of Uberlândia, Institute of Biotecnology, Laboratory of Nanobiotecnology. R. Acre, Bl 2E, Room 228, Campus Umuarama, CEP 38400-902, Uberlândia, Brazil. Phone: 55 34 32182203. Email: lrgoulart@ufu.br

#### Abstract

Transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ 1 is an important cytokine produced by different cell types able to regulate the immune response and cytokine production. TGF- $\beta$ 1 plays several roles depending on the environment and the receptor activation. This cytokine induces SMAD proteins after TGF $\beta$ RII activation, thus activating the SMAD-dependent pathway, important for inducing specific gene expression, however, TGF- $\beta$ 1 also can modulate some pro-inflammatory pathways by the SMAD-independent pathway. This work aimed to study the capacity of TGF- $\beta$ 1-like peptides to bind to TGF $\beta$ RII and elucidate which pathways. The data obtained showed us that sequence modifications interfere in the how the peptides can act in the different treatments done. The peptides can act in the NF $\kappa$ B and TLR4 pathways according to their conformation to induce the receptor activation, depending on the concentration, time point analyzed and environment. These results can help to develop new drugs strategies to control inflammatory diseases according to the specificity of each one for a strategic immune treatment.

**Keywords:** TGF-β1, Inflammation, NFκB, TLR4

#### Introduction

Transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ 1 is a pleiotropic cytokine that acts in several biological processes including embryonic development and cellular proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, migration and apoptosis<sup>1,2</sup>. This cytokine also plays a critical role in the induction of T helper cells able to regulate cytokine production and pathway activation in order to repair the inflammatory response<sup>3,4</sup>.

TGF-  $\beta$ 1 is produced by many cells types such as platelets, neutrophils, malignant cells, dendritic cells and macrophages<sup>5</sup>. Consequently, this cytokine has important effect in inflammatory, allergic and autoimmune diseases<sup>6,7,8</sup>. Due to the diversity of TGF-  $\beta$ 1, many factors are responsible for activating canonical or non-canonical pathways to induce multiple biological effects and interfere in different pro-inflammatory pathways. This cytokine can modulate different pathways directly related to TGF- $\beta$  receptors and also in response to crosstalk signaling<sup>9</sup>.

The aim of this work was investigate capacity of designed peptides to interfere in the TGF $\beta$ RII receptor and also act in the NF $\kappa$ B and TLR4 pathways. For this, reporter cells were stimulated with peptides, at different concentrations, followed by activation molecule treatment and treatment with the peptides with the pathway already activated. The peptides showed diversity of action dependent on the concentration, peptide conformation, and environment as also occurs with the rTGF- $\beta$ 1. The data found can help to elucidate the action of all peptides in the inflammatory environment to improve the studies necessary to obtain new strategies to develop immune modulatory molecules able to regulate an inflammatory response.

## Results

#### Design of peptides and aggregation assay

A previous study<sup>10</sup> demonstrated that pm1TGFb and pm26TGFb were reactive against PBMC cells, while bioinformatics analysis considers both peptides as binders to the TGFβRII.

In order to verify whether the conformation or/and amino-acid sequence could interfere in the interaction with the receptor, and consequently in the action, some modifications were made in the original sequence. Therefore, peptides were synthesized by replacing Cys-Cys with serine making possible the Pep 3, Pep 5 and Pep 6 linearization and/or scrambling of the Pep 4 and Pep 6 amino-acid sequences.



**Figure 1:** Peptides structure prediction. In red is represented the hydrophobic and blue hydrophilic amino acids. The first amino acids in each peptide is represented in black. (A) Pep 1 corresponds to the original pm1TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence; (B) Pep 2 corresponds to the original pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence; (C) Pep 3 corresponds to the pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 linear; (D) Pep4 corresponds to the pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 conformational with amino-acid positions modified; (E) Pep5 corresponds to the linear pm1TGF- $\beta$ 1; (F) Pep6 corresponds to the linear pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 with amino-acid positions modified; (G) Pep7 corresponds to the original pm18TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence and (H) Pep8 corresponds to the original pm11TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence.

Peptide structures were predicted according to each modification made (Figure 1A-H). The black sphere represents the first residue (C-alpha atom) in each peptide, whereas the blue and orange red clusters indicate the hydrophilic and hydrophobic regions, respectively. Although the peptides have different structures, the DLS result shows that all the peptides are monomers with hydrodynamic radius between 0.58nm (Pep1) and 2.94nm (Pep7) (Figure 2).



**Figure 2:** Analysis of the aggregation behavior of synthetic peptides in solution analyzed by DLS. All eight peptides were presented as a monomer.

#### Anti-TGF-β1 antibody recognition on A549 cell surface

To investigate whether the peptides could bind in the cell receptors, ELISA was performed against A549 cells using a commercial anti-TGF- $\beta$ 1 antibody.

Pep 1, Pep 2 and Pep 3 were recognized by the antibody the same way as the recombinant molecule; however, the antibody did not recognize statistically Pep 4 (P<0.05), Pep 5 (P<0.005), Pep 6 (P<0.005), Pep 7 (P<0.005) or Pep 8 (P<0.05) (Figure 3).



**Figure 3:** Peptides binding to A549 cell receptor. The peptides tested could recognize and bind on the cell surface present in the A549 cells. Pep 1, Pep 2 and Pep3 were recognized by anti-TGF- $\beta$ 1 antibody the same way as the rTGF- $\beta$ 1. Pep 4, Pep 5, Pep6, Pep7 and Pep8 also bound in the cell receptors were recognized as statistically different by the antibody, compared to the rTGF. $\beta$ 1. Absorbance values were normalized against cells without treatment. \*P<0.05; P<0.005.

#### Capacity of TGF-β1-like peptides to activate SMAD-dependent pathway

To investigate the capacity of peptides to bind to the TFG $\beta$ RII and activate the SMADdependent pathway, HEK-blue-TGF $\beta$  cells were treated with peptides at 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M for 12 (Figure 4A), 24 (Figure 4B) and 48 hours (Figure 4C). After 12 hours of stimuli, Pep1 (0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M), Pep2 (0.1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M), Pep3 (0.1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M), Pep4 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 1  $\mu$ M; 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M), Pep5 (0.1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M), Pep6 (0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, and 100  $\mu$ M) and Pep7 (1  $\mu$ M) were able to bind in the receptor. However, when the cells were analyzed after 24 hours, the activation was maintained only by Pep1 (1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M), Pep2 (1  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M), Pep 4 (100  $\mu$ M) and Pep2 (0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M), and after 48 hours only by Pep4 (0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M), Pep6 (0.1 and 1  $\mu$ M) and Pep8 (0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M).



**Figure 4:** TGFR $\beta$ II and SMAD pathway activation. Peptides able to bind in the TGFR $\beta$ II after 12h (A) 24h (B) and 48 h (C) of treatment.

#### Effects of peptides on the NFkB pathway

Two different cell treatments were done with Jurkat cells to analyze NF $\kappa$ B expression after 12, 24 and 48 hours. In the first test, Jurkat cells were treated only with the peptides

(without activation pathway molecule) at different concentrations, to analyze each peptide's capacity to induce NF $\kappa$ B expression (Supplementary Figure2). None of the concentrations tested induced any type of pathway activation. According to this result, cells were pretreated with peptides for 1 hour followed by stimuli with TNF-  $\alpha$  (Figure 5A, B, C) and *vice versa* (pretreated with TNF-  $\alpha$  for 1 hour followed by peptide stimuli) (Figure 5D, E, F).

The pretreatment with peptides was not able to reduce the NF $\kappa$ B activation after 12 hours of treatment; however, when the cells were analyzed after 24 hours, Pep 3 (0.1 $\mu$ M; 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05; P<0.005 and P<0.05), Pep4 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05; P<0.005 and P<0.05), Pep 5 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 1  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 6 (0.1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05) and Pep7 (1  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05) were able to decrease the pathway activation. After 48 hours, Pep 1 (0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 2 (0.1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 3 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05; P<0.005; P<0.005), Pep 4 (10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 5 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05; P<0.005; P<0.005), Pep 4 (10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 5 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05; P<0.005; P<0.005) and Pep 7 (1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 5 (0.1  $\mu$ K; 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05; P<0.005; P<0.005) and Pep 7 (1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05).

Lastly, Pep8 (0.1  $\mu$ M) was the only peptide able to reduce the pathway after 24 hours (P<0.005), when cells were pretreated with TNF- $\alpha$  followed by stimuli by peptides (Figure 5E).



**Figure 5:** Action of peptides on the NF $\kappa$ B pathway. Cells were treated 1 hour with peptides and TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) was added. Luciferase was measured at (A) 12 hours of treatment, (B) 24 hours of treatment and (C) 48 hours of treatment. Cells were treated 1 hour with TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) and the peptides was added. Luciferase was measured at (D) 12 hours of treatment (E) 24 hours of treatment (F) 48 hours of treatment. TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) was used as positive control and rIL-10 (0.4ng/mL) as a negative control. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*\*P<0.0005.

#### Action of peptides on the TLR4 pathway

Similarly to the treatment done using Jurkart cells, peptides at different concentrations were also tested on HEK cells to investigate their capacity to interfere in the TLR4 pathway.

To ensure that the peptides could not induce any activation when tested alone (with no activation pathway molecule) only the peptides were added in the cell line and SEAP was measured after 12 hours (Supplementary Figure 4). In fact, the peptides at all concentrations did not activate the signaling pathway.

Cellular pretreatment with peptides showed the capacity of Pep 1 (10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05), Pep 5 (1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05 and P<0.005), Pep 6 (1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.005) and Pep 7 (0.1  $\mu$ M; 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) (P<0.005; P<0.05 and P<0.05) to reduce the TLR4 pathway activation (Figure 6A). At the same time, when cells were pretreated with LPS followed by peptide stimuli, only Pep 1 (1  $\mu$ M) (P<0.05) and Pep 2 (100  $\mu$ M) (P<0.005) interfered in the pathway activation, compared to the positive control (Figure 6B).



**Figure 6:** Action of peptides on TLR4 expression. (A) Cells were treated 1 hour with peptides and LPS (100ng/mL) was added and SEAP was measured at 12 hours and (B) cells were treated with LPS (100ng/mL) for 1 hour and the peptides were added and SEAP was measured at 12 hours. LPS (100ng/mL) was used as positive control and rIL-10 (0.4ng/mL) as a negative control. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*P<0.005.

#### Discussion

Herein, we investigated the capacity of peptide structures and sequence variations to bind in the TGF<sup>β</sup>RII, using HEK-blue reporter cells by analyzing the SEAP production when the SMAD-dependent pathway is activated. Commercial anti-TGF- $\beta$ 1 antibody was able to recognize Pep 1, Pep 2 and Pep 3 bound to A549 receptors, in the same manner as rTGF- $\beta$ 1. We also analyzed the capacity of peptides, at different concentrations, to interfere in the activation of NFkB and TLR4 signaling pathways. Thus, elucidation of how modifications of TGF-β1-like peptides can induce the activation of different pathways consequently responses, improve strategies develop and may the new to immunomodulatory drugs.

Peptide structure prediction and DLS measurement were able to show that although peptides differ in sequence and conformation, these modifications cannot affect the way they are found in solution (Figure 1 and 2). All of them are presented as a monomer as well as the TGF- $\beta$ 1 native molecule. The receptor activation requires two native molecules<sup>11</sup>, thus we infer the hypothesis that the peptides can mimic the portion responsible for binding in the receptor and activate the pathway. The ELISA performed revealed the capacity of peptides to bind in the receptor present in A549 cell line and specifically Pep 1, Pep 2 and Pep 3 were recognized by anti- TGF- $\beta$ 1antibody. Therefore, we speculate that these peptides were able to bind specifically in the TGF $\beta$ RII (Figure 3).

To confirm this hypothesis, we used a reporter cell line transfected with the TGF $\beta$ RII-SMAD-dependent pathway and the results showed the capacity of the peptides to bind in the receptor (Figure 4). Most of peptides were able to bind in the receptor and induce a response after 12 hours of stimuli; however, only the peptides 1 and 2 presented a good activation after 24 hours. These data support the results already published that Pep2

can induce Treg cells, whose production can be stimulated after TGF $\beta$ RII-SMAD-Dependent pathway activation<sup>10</sup>.

The TGF- $\beta$ 1 molecule binds in the receptor and activates SMAD-dependent or interferes in the SMAD-independent pathways, a response that is environmentally dependent<sup>12</sup>. The cytokine binds to the TGF $\beta$ RII and TGF $\beta$ I, respectively, both of which present serine/threonine activity<sup>13</sup>. The binding to receptors provokes SMAD2 and SMAD3 phosphorylation by initiating the signaling. SMAD2 and SMAD3 binds to Co-SMAD4, creating a protein complex able to enter the nucleus and promote the transcription of different genes. SMAD6 and SMAD7 are both proteins that act to inhibit SMAD2 and SMAD3 phosphorylation, directly correlated with pro-inflammatory signaling<sup>14</sup>. TGF- $\beta$ 1 can decrease SMAD7 induction and consequently pro-inflammatory cytokine production<sup>15</sup>. The SMAD-independent pathway plays a role in p38MAPK, RHO, PI3K-AKT, ERK, JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B signaling<sup>12</sup>.

Although Pep 4, Pep 5 and Pep 6 were more effective at inducing the SMADdependent pathway after 12 hours, this response was not stable after 24 or 48 hours, while Pep 1 and 2 had the best action at these time points. We could explain this finding by remembering that all the peptides were previously isolated using rTGF- $\beta$ 1 to ensure the selectivity of the peptides<sup>10</sup>. The native molecule after receptor binding affects SMAD dependent or/and independent pathways, since in an immune model we can induce basal activation of both after TGF- $\beta$ 1 binding<sup>16</sup>. Thus, although Pep4, Pep5 and Pep6 activated the receptor after 12 hours of treatment, this response was not observed after 24 or 48 hours, which supports the hypothesis that these peptides can interfere preferentially in the SMAD-independent pathway while Pep 1 and Pep 2, at specific concentrations, clearly can bind in the TGF $\beta$ RII receptor and induce preferentially the SMAD-dependent pathway (Figure 4).

NFkB signaling is expressed in response to a pathologic and inflammatory environment, thus acting on cell adhesion molecules, cytokines and other transcription genes. Because of this, the pathway control is an important approach to regulate severe inflammation<sup>17</sup>. After Jurkat cells were pretreated with TGF- $\beta$ 1-like peptides followed by TNF-α stimuli, only Pep 3, Pep 4, Pep 5 and Pep 7 had an effect on decreasing the NFκB expression at a specific time point and concentration. On the other hand, when cells already had activated NFkB expression, only Pep8 (0.1 µM) decreased the activation within 24 hours. Recent studies have shown that TNF-α stimuli down-regulate TGFβRII, which is necessary to initiate the SMAD-dependent pathway<sup>18</sup>, a fact that can be explained by whether cells were treated with TNF- $\alpha$  before or after rTGF- $\beta$ 1 stimuli; only at a specific time and concentration, the molecule reduced NFkB expression (Supplementary Figure 3). TNF-a stimuli also can induce SMAD7 protein expression by RelA/NFkB activation<sup>19</sup> and controversially, SMAD7 can disturb the formation of TRAF-2-TAK1-TAB2/3 complex inhibiting NF $\kappa$ B expression<sup>20</sup>. This may be a response to how TGF- $\beta$ 1like peptides interfere in the SMAD-independent pathway, by blocking SMAD7 protein and NF<sub>k</sub>B expression.

Another important pro-inflammatory pathway analyzed in this study is TLR4, responsible for lipopolysaccharide (LPS) recognition leading to NF $\kappa$ B expression<sup>21</sup>. Studies already demonstrated the capacity of rTGF- $\beta$ 1 to inhibit directly MyD88-dependent signaling, thus blocking NF $\kappa$ B expression<sup>22</sup>. As the peptides at specific concentrations induced the same inhibition as the native molecule, we hypothesize that these peptides also can block MyD88-dependent protein to inhibit I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  phosphorylation and in turn block NF $\kappa$ B expression after LPS stimuli<sup>23</sup>.

In summary, we have demonstrated that TGF- $\beta$ 1-like peptides are capable of regulating an inflammatory pathway activation. Each of eight different peptide stimuli

provokes a specific action according to the pathway analyzed and this effect is conformation-, concentration- and time-dependent. According to TGF-β1 diversity in the immune system and which response the molecule can induce, the effect is dependent on several factors such as ligands, receptors, proteins, crosstalk between other signaling pathways and environment<sup>24,9</sup>. Like the molecule, each peptide presented a specific action according to the target and the pathways analyzed, so this specificity can be utilized to control a specific pathway of interest. These parameters can be relevant for choosing which stimulus should be employed to induce the best action according to the context. Because of this, the stimuli applied by pretreating the cells with the peptides and analyzing the interference of peptides in the cellular pathway already activated give us some indication as to how the peptides can be used to develop new strategies to control the inflammatory response.

#### Methodology

#### **Design of TGF-β1-like peptides**

The selection of TGF- $\beta$ -like peptides was described by Vaz et al., 2015<sup>10</sup>. The two most reactive peptides (pm1TGF- $\beta$ 1 and pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1) were chosen to investigate whether the peptides structure modifications could interfere in the interactions of peptides with the TGF- $\beta$ 1 receptor (TGF $\beta$ II). Two peptides selected (pm11TGF- $\beta$ 1 and pm18TGF- $\beta$ 1) but with no high affinity in the tests conducted, were used as a negative control.

All the peptides were chemically synthesized by Bachem AG (Bubendorf, Switzerland). Peptide 1 (Pep1) corresponds to the original pm1TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence (HACFLPASGLCGGGS), Peptide 2 (Pep2) corresponds to the original pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence (HACESPLKRQCGGGS), Peptide 3 (Pep3) to the pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 linear (HASESPLKRQSGGGS), Peptide 4 (Pep4) to the pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 conformational in relation to modified amino-acid positions (HACKLQRSEPCGGGS), Peptide 5 (Pep5) to the linear pm1TGF- $\beta$ 1 (HASFLPASGLSGGGS), Peptide 6 (Pep6) to the linear pm26TGF- $\beta$ 1 with modified amino-acid positions (HASKLQRSEPSGGGS), Peptide 7 (Pep7) to the original pm18TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence (HASTLASTLHSGGGS) and Peptide 8 (Pep8) to the original pm11TGF- $\beta$ 1 sequence (HASTLPSNTHSGGGS).

### **Peptide structures**

The structures of conformational peptides (with disulfide bond) were predicted using the program PEPstrMOD (<u>https://omictools.com/pepstrmod-tool</u>), whereas the structures of linear peptides (with no disulfide bond) were predicted via the program PEP-FOLD3 (<u>http://bioserv.rpbs.univ-paris-diderot.fr/services/PEP-FOLD/</u>).

#### Dynamic light-scattering (DSL) measurement

Peptides were diluted at 1  $\mu$ g/mL and 100  $\mu$ l was centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 10 min at RT. A total of 20  $\mu$ l of peptides was measured within the system DLS 802 (Viscotek Corp., Houston, TX, US). The software OmniSize<sup>TM</sup> (Viscotek Corp., Houston, TX, US) was employed to analyze the data.

#### Detection of TGFβ1-like peptides on the surface of the A549 cell line

The capacity of the TGF $\beta$ 1-like peptides to recognize the TGF $\beta$ 1 receptor on A549 cells (ATCC, LGC Promochem, Wesel, Germany) was evaluated by ELISA. MaxiSorp microtiter 96-well plates (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) were coated with 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> cells diluted in PBS, and incubated overnight at 4°C. Cells were blocked with 3% PBS-BSA for 1 h at 37°C, washed once with PBS and incubated with 1 µg/ml of each TGF $\beta$ 1-like peptide or 5 ng/ml of recombinant TGF- $\beta$ 1 (eBioscience, Vienna, Austria) for 1 h at 37°C. After

washing, the plate was incubated for 1 h at  $37^{\circ}$ C with anti-human TGF $\beta$  (eBioscience). The plate was washed and incubated with HRP-labeled anti-human IgG antibody (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL, USA) for 1 h at  $37^{\circ}$ C. After washing, TMB substrate solution (Sigma, Vienna, Austria) was added to the plate; the reaction was stopped by 2N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> solution and read at 492 nm in a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite m200).

#### The capacity of TGF-β1-like peptides to activate the SMAD-dependent pathway

To investigate the peptides' capacity to activate TGF $\beta$ RII and which pathway they could induce, we used HEK-Blue TGF- $\beta$  reporter cells (InvivoGen).

Approximately  $2.5 \times 10^4$  cells/well (100 µl) were treated with 100 µl of all synthetic peptides at different concentrations (100µM, 10 µM, 1 µM and 0.1 µM), while rTGF- $\beta$  (eBioscience) at 100ng/mL was used as a positive control. After incubation of cells for 12, 24 and 48 hours at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 20 µl of supernatant was transferred to a Greiner Plate (Cellstar) to which was added 80 µl of Quanti-blue solution (InvivoGen). The plate was incubated for 1 hour at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, and the SEAP (alkaline phosphatase) production was detected at 655nm. All assays were performed in triplicate.

#### Effects of peptides on the NFkB pathway

Jurkat-Dual reporter cells (InvivoGen) were employed to analyze the peptides' effect on the NFkB pathway.

A total of  $3x10^5$  cells/well (100µl) were pretreated with 100µl of synthetic peptides at 100µM, 10 µM, 1 µM and 0.1 µM for 1 hour at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, followed by TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) (eBioscience) stimuli for 12, 24 and 48 hours. The same stimuli were applied to cells pretreated with TNF- $\alpha$  (200ng/mL) (eBioscience) for 1 hour at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> followed by peptide stimuli at 100µM, 10 µM, 1 µM and 0.1 µM for 12, 24 and 48 hours.

Next,  $50\mu$ l of supernatant was transferred to a white plate (Thermo Scientific) and Quanti-Luc reagent (InvivoGen) was utilized to measure the luciferase production. As a control, the peptides were tested at the same concentrations to investigate whether they alone could activate the NF $\kappa$ B pathway, using TNF- $\alpha$  as a positive control.

#### Action of peptides on the TLR4 pathway

HEK-Blue hTLR4 reporter cells (InvivoGen) were utilized to investigate the peptides' action on the TLR4 pathway.

A total of  $2.3 \times 10^4$  cells/well (100µ1) were pretreated with 100µ1 of synthetic peptides at 100µM, 10µM, 1µM and 0.1µM for 1 hour at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> followed by LPS at 100ng/mL (Sigma-Aldrich) stimuli for 12 hours. The same stimuli were applied to cells pretreated with LPS at 100ng/mL (Sigma-Aldrich) for 1 hour at 37°C5% in CO<sub>2</sub>, followed by peptide stimuli at 100µM, 10µM, 1µM and 0.1µM for 12 hours. The stimuli were imparted in Quanti-blue medium (InvivoGen) and the SEAP production was measured at 655nm. As a control, the peptides at the same concentrations were tested alone to investigate whether they could activate the TLR4 pathway and LPS was used as a positive control. All assays were performed in triplicate.

#### Statistical analyses

Statistical analyzes were performed using GraphPad Prism 5.0 software. Comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA and *in vitro* comparisons between the treatments were performed using Tukey's test. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. P values less than 0.05 (\*P < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.005; \*\*\*P < 0.005) were considered significant.

#### References

1. Freier, E. et al. Decrease of CD4+FOXP3+ T regulatory cells in the peripheral blood of human subjects undergoing a mental stressor. Psychoneuroendocrinology (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.10.005

2. Lu, L. et al. Synergistic effect of TGF-beta superfamily members on the induction of Foxp3+ Treg. Eur. J. Immunol. (2010).

3. Dickson, M. C. et al. Defective haematopoiesis and vasculogenesis in transforming growth factor-beta 1 knock out mice. Development (1995).

4. Li, M. O., Wan, Y. Y., Sanjabi, S., Robertson, A.-K. L. & Flavell, R. a. Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. (2006). <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090737</u>

5. Kehrl, J. H. et al. Production of transforming growth factor beta by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth. J. Exp. Med. (1986). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.163.5.1037

6. Murakami, M. & Hirano, T. The molecular mechanisms of chronic inflammation development. Frontiers in Immunology (2012). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00323

7. He, Q. et al. Thymic Development of Autoreactive T Cells in NOD Mice Is Regulated in an<br/>Age-DependentManner.J.Immunol.(2013).https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1302273

8. Hong, J. Y. et al. Chitotriosidase inhibits allergic asthmatic airways via regulation of TGF- $\beta$  expression and Foxp3+Treg cells. Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (2018).

9. Derynck, R. & Zhang, Y. E. Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-β<br/>family signalling. Nature (2003).<br/>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02006

10. Vaz, E. R. et al. A short peptide that mimics the binding domain of TGF-β1 presents<br/>potent anti-inflammatory activity. PLoS One (2015).<br/>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136116

11. Radaev, S. et al. Ternary complex of transforming growth factor-beta1 reveals isoformspecific ligand recognition and receptor recruitment in the superfamily. J. Biol. Chem. (2010). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.079921

12. Akhurst, R. J. & Hata, A. Targeting the TGFβ signalling pathway in disease. NatureReviewsDrugDiscovery(2012).https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3810

13. Liu, T. & Feng, X. H. Regulation of TGF-beta signalling by protein phosphatases. Biochem. J. (2010). https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20100427

14. Massagué, J. How cells read TGF-beta signals. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. (2000). https://doi.org/10.1038/35043051

15. Monteleone, G. et al. Blocking Smad7 restores TGF-beta1 signaling in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. J. Clin. Invest. (2001). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI12821

16. Zhang, Y. E. Non-Smad pathways in TGF-beta signaling. Cell Res. (2009). https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2008.328

17. Baeuerle, P. A. Function and Activation of NF-Kappa B in the Immune System. Annu. Rev. Immunol. (1994). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.001041

18. Yamane, K., Ihn, H., Asano, Y., Jinnin, M. & Tamaki, K. Antagonistic effects of TNF-alpha on TGF-beta signaling through down-regulation of TGF-beta receptor type II in human dermal fibroblasts. J. Immunol. (2003). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.7.3855

19. Bitzer, M. et al. A mechanism of suppression of TGF-beta/SMAD signaling by NF-kappa B/RelA. Genes Dev. (2000).

20. Park, S. H. Fine tuning and cross-talking of TGF-beta signal by inhibitory Smads. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. (2005).

21. Iwami, K. -i. et al. Cutting Edge: Naturally Occurring Soluble Form of Mouse Toll-Like Receptor 4 Inhibits Lipopolysaccharide Signaling. J. Immunol. (2000). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.12.6682

22. Beutler, B. Inferences, questions and possibilities in Toll-like receptor signalling. Nature (2004). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02761

23. Kawasaki, T. & Kawai, T. Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Frontiers in Immunology (2014). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00461

24. Moustakas, A. & Heldin, C. H. Non-Smad TGF-beta signals. J. Cell Sci. (2005). https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02554

# **Supplementary Figures**



**SF1:** HEK-blue-TGF- $\beta$  cell activation with rTGF- $\beta$ 1. Hek-Blue cells had better TGF $\beta$ RII activation with rTGF- $\beta$ 1 at 2ng after 24 hours of treatment.



**SF2:** NFkB expression after stimuli by peptides alone. The treatment without TNF- $\alpha$  (only peptides) shows that peptides were not able to induce any NFkB activation after 12 hours (A), 24 hours (B) and 48 hours (C).



**SF3:** rTGF- $\beta$ 1 action on NF $\kappa$ B expression. Cells were pretreated with rTGF- $\beta$ 1 at different concentrations, followed by TNF- $\alpha$  stimuli at 12h (A), 24h (B) and 48 h (C). Cells treated with TNF- $\alpha$  followed by rTGF- $\beta$ 1stimuli at 12h (D), 24h (E) and 48h (F). \*P<0.05/ \*\*P<0.005.



**SF4:** TLR4 expression after peptide stimuli. The treatment with only the peptides at different concentrations and no LPS, did not induce any expression of TLR4.



SF5: rTGF curve in TLR4 expression. (A) Cells were pretreated with rTGF followed by LPS stimuli and (B) Cells were pretreated with LPS followed by rTGF- $\beta$ 1 stimuli. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.005; \*\*\*P<0.0005.

# CAPÍTULO IV

# THE COMBINATION OF TGFB1- AND IL-10-LIKE PEPTIDES MODULATES ALLERGEN-SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSE IN MICE

(Short communication escrito de acordo com as normas da revista Allergy)

# The combination of TGFβ1- and IL-10-like peptides modulates allergen-specific immune response in mice

Emília R. Vaz<sup>1</sup>, Galber R. Araujo<sup>2</sup>, Lorenz Aglas<sup>2</sup>, Fatima Ferreira<sup>2</sup>, Luiz R. Goulart<sup>1</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Nanobiotechnology, Institute of Biotechnology, Federal University of Uberlândia, Uberlândia, Brazil
<sup>2</sup>Department of Biosciences, Division of Allergy and Immunology, University of Salzburg,

Salzburg, Austria

# **Correspondence to:**

Luíz Ricardo Goulart Filho

Federal University of Uberlândia, Institute of Biotechnology, Laboratory of Nanobiotecnology. R. Acre, Bl 2E, Room 228, Campus Umuarama, CEP 38400-902, Uberlândia, Brazil. Phone: 55 34 32182203. Email: lrgoulart@ufu.br

#### Abstract

Transforming growth factor  $\beta$ 1 (TGF $\beta$ 1) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) are cytokines defined by their ability to suppress pathological immune responses in the settings of allergy and other inflammatory diseases. Therefore, TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL10-like peptides might be promising candidates to dampen inflammatory and allergic reactions. Here, we sought to investigate two synthetic peptides for their ability to modulate the immune response during allergic sensitization to birch pollen allergens in mice. Peptides action was evaluated by mediator release and ELISPOT assays.

The combination of TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides was able to downregulate IgE-specific basophil degranulation, Interferon-gamma and IL-4 cytokines production, and to upregulate IL-10. These findings highlights the potential use of the synthetic peptides presented here in the modulation of inflammatory allergic responses towards environmental allergens.

**Keywords:** TGFβ1; IL-10; Bet v 1; immunomodulation

#### Introduction

T lymphocytes are among the principal factors involved in the regulation of adaptive immune responses in inflammatory diseases. In a healthy immune system, Type I T helper (Th1) cells are required for the clearance of many intracellular pathogens, while Th2 cells are required for the clearance of helminth infection. A breakdown in the Th1/Th2 balance can lead to immune disorders with fatal outcomes (1, 2). In an imbalanced immune system, Th1 cells are involved in delayed hypersensitivity immune reactions, while Th2 T cells are involved in allergic diseases. Th1 lymphocytes produce IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2 to support cell-mediated immunity, while Th2 lymphocytes produce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 cytokines, which play important roles in the exacerbation of the allergic response. IL-4 is the key cytokine response for Th2 polarization, which, together with IL-13, induces class switching of B lymphocytes immunoglobulin production towards IgE. Allergic reactions are initiated after subsequent allergen exposure where, it cross-links allergen-specific IgE bound on the high-affinity FceRI receptor on mast cells or basophils triggering cell degranulation. This event alerts the immune system to local infection and propagates the inflammatory allergic response (3, 4). Hence, the modulation of Th1/Th2 cell cytokines is essential for the maintenance or restoration of immune homeostasis.

Birch (*Betula verrucosa*) pollen is the main cause of pollinosis in the temperate climate zone of the northern hemisphere. The vast majority of birch allergic patients (over 90%) react to its major allergen, Bet v 1, which has Th2 skewing capacity, and is used as a marker for birch pollen allergy (5, 6). Allergen-specific immunotherapy (ASIT) has been shown to modulate the natural course of allergies, leading to improvement or even complete remission of allergic symptoms (7). However, although ASIT is the treatment of

choice for many patients, local and systemic allergic side effects have been reported (8). Sublingual allergen immunotherapy has also been associated with side effects (9, 10).

Transforming growth factor  $\beta 1$  (TGF $\beta 1$ ) is a cytokine that plays important immunoregulatory properties, as reflected by its ability to suppress Th1 and Th2 responses (11, 12), and to induce the transcription factor forkhead box protein 3 (Foxp3) expression. Foxp3 is a master regulator involved in the development and function of regulatory T (Treg) cells (13, 14). Treg cells are indispensable for the maintenance of immune homeostasis and the induction of immune tolerance. Their dysfunction can lead to autoimmune diseases, immunopathology and allergy (15). On the other hand, Interleukin 10 (IL-10) is a cytokine associated with important immunoregulatory functions, including survival and proliferation of various immune cells (16). Hence, peptides that could mimic the active core domain of TGF $\beta 1$  and IL-10 cytokines might be promising candidates for the suppression of the Th2 response.

In a previous study (17), we have showed some consistent immunoregulatory actions of TGF $\beta$ 1-like peptides selected from a phage display library. In an inflammatory environment, the peptide-like was able to downregulate TNF- $\alpha$  and upregulate IL-10, important regulatory actions in the suppression of an inflammatory response. Furthermore, compared with control groups, the peptide-like increased Treg cell production in 35%, and decreased leucocyte rolling and neutrophil migration in 60.4% and 40%, respectively. In the present study, we investigate whether the combination of TGF $\beta$ 1 and IL-10-like peptides can suppress Th2 polarization induced towards birch pollen allergens.

#### Material and methods

#### Synthetic peptides and allergens

The TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides were chemically synthesized by Bachem AG (Weil am Rhein, Germany) as suggested in the phage display manual (18). In order to induce disulfide bond formation and folding, the peptides originally composed of seven amino acids were constructed with fourteen residues and contain one cysteine at both N- and Ctermini. Synthetic sequences: AC<u>ESPLKRQ</u>CGGGS (TGF $\beta$ 1-like); AC<u>SAVIKSS</u>CGGGS (IL-10-like). Original peptides are underlined. Aqueous birch pollen extract (*Betula pendula*; Allergon AB, Ängelholm, Sweden) was used to induce mice sensitization.

#### Immunizations

Female BALB/c mice (6–10 weeks old) were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Sulzfeld, Germany) and maintained in the animal facility of the University of Salzburg. The immunization schedule was performed as described in Figure 1A. To induce allergen-specific IgE response, five mice were immunized intradermally (i.d.) with 125  $\mu$ g birch pollen extract diluted in PBS. Five mice were immunized (i.d.) with 125  $\mu$ g birch pollen extract in combination with TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides diluted at 1  $\mu$ M in PBS. Three mice constituted the naïve group. Immunizations were performed on days 1, 14, 28, and 42, and mice sacrificed on day 56. To investigate the induction of Bet v 1-specific IgE response, blood samples were drawn from the saphenous vein on days 28, and 42 after the first immunization. Based on the principles of Russell and Burch's 3Rs (19), which aims minimizing the potential for animal pain and distress in biomedical research, and on the fact that our major aim was not to compare the effect of recombinant TGF $\beta$ 1 and IL-10 cytokines and mimetic molecules *in vivo*, we sought to investigate only the effects of the peptides. All animal experiments were performed according to national guidelines
approved by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Science, Research and Economy (BMWF-66.012/0017-WF/V/3b/2017).

## Mediator release assay

The capacity of TGFβ1- and IL-10-like peptides to suppress Bet v 1-induced degranulation in murine RBL-2H3 (muRBL) cells (ATCC<sup>®</sup> CRL2256<sup>TM</sup>) was performed as described elsewhere (20). Briefly,  $4 \times 10^4$  cells/well diluted in RPMI 1640 (supplemented with 10%) (v/v) heat-inactivated FCS, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 U/ml streptomycin, 4 mM Lglutamine, 2 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM HEPES, and 100 µM of 2-mercaptoethanol) were plated into 96-well tissue culture plates (Becton-Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and sensitized with pooled or individual sera of mice from the different immunization groups or naïve at a final dilution of 1:20 by overnight incubation at 37°C and 7.5%  $CO_2$ . Mediator release with individual sera was performed with Bet v 1 diluted at 100 µg/ml, due the fact that this was the first dilution which were not found in the plateau anymore. Subsequently, cells were washed twice with Tyrode's buffer supplemented with 0.1% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich). For stimulation, cross-linking of FceRI-bound IgE was induced by addition of different concentrations of Bet v 1 diluted in Tyrode's buffer for 1 h at 37°C and 7.5% CO<sub>2</sub>. For maximal β-hexosaminidase release, 10 µl 10% Triton X-100 was added to the wells containing cells only. Thereafter, 50 µl of supernatants were transferred to a 96-well plate (Greiner) and incubated with 50 µl 4-MUG (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany) in citrate buffer (0.1 M, pH 4.5) for 1 h at the conditions indicated above. The reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl glycine buffer (0.2 M glycine and 0.2 M NaCl, pH 10.7) and fluorescence was measured at 465-360 nm using a microplate reader (Tecan Infinite m200). The specific release was calculated in relation to the percentage of total  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase content that was obtained by lysing the cells with Triton X-100 (100%).

## **Isolation of splenocytes**

Spleens were aseptically removed immediately after mice sacrifice, disrupted, and sedimented for 5 min in 1 ml minimal essential culture medium (MEM). Lysis of erythrocytes was performed by adding 5 ml ammonium chloride potassium lysis buffer (150 mM NH4Cl, 10 mM KHCO3, 0.1 mM Na2EDTA in ddH2O, pH 7.2) for 5 min at RT. White blood cells were collected by centrifugation at  $300 \times g$  for 5 min at RT. Cells were resuspended in proliferation medium (MEM, 1% (v/v) heat-inactivated FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100U/ml penicillin, 100 U/ml streptomycin, 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 2  $\mu$ M of 2-mercaptoethanol, and 1× non-essential amino acids) and used in the subsequent experiments.

## Cytokine detection by ELISPOT

For IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, and IL-10 detection after stimulation of splenocytes with Bet v 1, 96 MultiScreen filtration plates (Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany) were activated with 70% ethanol for 10 min, washed three times with PBS, and coated with 2 µg/ml anti-mouse IFN- $\gamma$  (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), anti-mouse IL-4 (eBioscience), or anti-mouse IL-10 (BioLegend) overnight at 4°C in a humidified chamber. Plates were washed three times with PBS and incubated for 2 h with blocking solution (proliferation medium supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum) in a humidified chamber at RT. Splenocytes were diluted at a density of 2 × 10<sup>5</sup> in proliferation medium, in the presence of Bet v 1 diluted at 20 µg/ml, and incubated for 48 h at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After three washes with PBS supplemented with 0.1% Tween-20, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, and IL-10 detection biotin anti-

mouse antibodies (all BioLegend) were added to the plates and kept for 2 h at RT in a humidified chamber. After three washes, HRP-conjugated streptavidin was added to the plates and incubated for 1 h at RT in a humidified chamber. After four washes, TMB substrate (SeraCare Life Sciences, Milford, MA, USA) was added to each plate for 5 min prior to stopping by washing with ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Immunospots were counted using the color deconvolution plugin in ImageJ software.

#### **Statistical analysis**

Comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA, and analysis of variance was used for comparisons among all groups. All analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Results are presented as mean with SD of each group. P values less than 0.05 (\*P < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.01; \*\*\*P < 0.001) were considered significant.

## **Results and Discussion**

# The combination of TGFβ1- and IL-10-like peptides suppresses basophil regranulation

The ability of the TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides in modulating the IgE-specific immune response towards Bet v 1 was investigated by mediator release assays using RBL-2H3 cells passively sensitized with IgE antibodies from mice immunized with birch pollen extract. Bet v 1 was able to induce IgE production, as observed in the high levels of basophil degranulation in the group from mice immunized with birch pollen extract (Figure 1B-C). On the other hand, mice immunized with birch pollen extract in combination with TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides had significant lower levels of basophil degranulation compared to the control group (*P* < 0.01).



**Figure 1:** The combination of TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides suppresses IgE-specific basophil degranulation. (A) Scheme of animal immunizations. (B) Titration curve for mediator release assay performed with pooled sera from all groups showing that peptides-treated mice rendered substantially lower levels of basophil degranulation. (C) Mediator release assay performed with individual sera reinforcing the capacity of the peptides in downregulating IgE-specific basophil degranulation. \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

Allergen-specific immune modulation is essential process to prevent the development of allergy, where IgE plays a pivotal role. Thus, the inhibition of IgE production is crucial event to suppress allergic reactions (21). In our study, TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides efficiently inhibited basophil degranulation. The ability of these two cytokines to skew the antibody production from IgE towards non-inflammatory antibody isotypes has already been reported (22). We hypothesize that the ability of the –like peptides in suppressing basophil degranulation might be linked to its capacity to induce blocking antibodies as IgG4 and IgA. IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  have been reported to suppress both total and allergen-specific IgE, and to increase IgG4 and IgA production (23-25). Antibody

isotype production in mice treated with the –like peptides will be explored in detail in a future study. We therefore concluded that the treatment with the TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides downregulated basophil degranulation.

# The combination of TGFβ1- and IL-10-like peptides modulates cytokine production

The ability of the TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides in modulating the number of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4, and IL-10 producing spleen cells in all groups of mice was investigated by ELISPOT. Immunization with birch pollen extract resulted in high induction of IFN- $\gamma$  (P < 0.001) and IL-4 (P < 0.001) release upon Bet v 1 stimulation. Mice treated with the –like peptides had significantly lower levels of IFN- $\gamma$  (P < 0.001; Fig 2A) and IL-4 (P < 0.001; Fig 2B) secreted by Bet v 1-restimulated splenocytes, while levels of IL-10 were significantly higher (P < 0.05; Fig 2C) when compared to untreated mice.



Bet v 1-restimulated splenocytes (2 µg/ml)

**Figure 2**: The combination of TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides modulates cytokine production. Bet v 1-restimulated splenocytes of peptides-treated mice rendered significant lower levels of IFN- $\gamma$  (A) and IL-4 (B), and significant higher levels of IL-10 (C) production in comparison with the untreated group. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.01; \*\*\**P* < 0.001.

Since IFN- $\gamma$  is a cytokine that contributes directly and indirectly to Th1 differentiation and IL-4 is a cytokine that promotes Th2 differentiation (26), the downregulation of these two cytokines indicates a modulation of either Th1 or Th2 polarization, essential event to control an inflammatory/allergic response. In contrast, IL-4 is known to induce IgE class switching in mice (27), thus, it might help us to explain our previous result showing that the –like peptides suppressed IgE-mediated basophil degranulation. We hypothesize that the inhibition of IL-4 consequently suppressed IgE production. On the other hand, the upregulation of IL-10 indicates that the –like peptides played an anti-inflammatory action since this cytokine plays a crucial, and often essential, role in preventing inflammatory pathologies (28, 29). We therefore concluded that the treatment with the TGF $\beta$ 1- and IL-10-like peptides modulated the production of cytokines that play critical roles in the control of immune responses.

# References

1. Mikhalkevich N, Becknell B, Caligiuri MA, Bates MD, Harvey R, Zheng WP. Responsiveness of naive CD4 T cells to polarizing cytokine determines the ratio of Th1 and differentiation. Immunol. 2006;176(3):1553-60. Th2 cell J https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1553

2. Bashyam H. Th1/Th2 cross-regulation and the discovery of IL-10. J Exp Med. 2007;204(2):237.

https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.2042fta

3. Shamji MH, Durham SR. Mechanisms of allergen immunotherapy for inhaled allergens and predictive biomarkers. Alleray Clin Immunol. 2017;140(6):1485-98. J https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2017.10.010

4. Lambrecht BN, Kool M, Willart MA, Hammad H. Mechanism of action of clinically approved adjuvants. Curr Opin Immunol. 2009;21(1):23-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2009.01.004

5. Asam C, Batista AL, Moraes AH, de Paula VS, Almeida FC, Aglas L, et al. Bet v 1--a Trojan horse for small ligands boosting allergic sensitization? Clin Exp Allergy. 2014;44(8):1083-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/cea.12361

6. Sekerkova A, Polackova M. Detection of Bet v1, Bet v2 and Bet v4 specific IgE antibodies in the sera of children and adult patients allergic to birch pollen: evaluation of different IgE reactivity profiles depending on age and local sensitization. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2011;154(4):278-85.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000321819

7. Mobs C, Slotosch C, Loffler H, Pfutzner W, Hertl M. Cellular and humoral mechanisms of immune tolerance in immediate-type allergy induced by specific immunotherapy. Int Arch Immunol. 2008;147(3):171-8. Allergy https://doi.org/10.1159/000142039

8. Frew AJ. Allergen immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125(2 Suppl 2):S306-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.064

9. Di Rienzo V, Marcucci F, Puccinelli P, Parmiani S, Frati F, Sensi L, et al. Long-lasting effect of sublingual immunotherapy in children with asthma due to house dust mite: a 10-year prospective study. Clin Alleray. 2003;33(2):206-10. Exp https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2222.2003.01587.x

10. Bufe A, Ziegler-Kirbach E, Stoeckmann E, Heidemann P, Gehlhar K, Holland-Letz T, et al. Efficacy of sublingual swallow immunotherapy in children with severe grass pollen allergic symptoms: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Allergy. 2004;59(5):498-504. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.2004.00457.x

11. Oh SA, Li MO. TGF-beta: guardian of T cell function. J Immunol. 2013;191(8):3973-9. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1301843

12. Tirado-Rodriguez B, Ortega E, Segura-Medina P, Huerta-Yepez S. TGF- beta: an important mediator of allergic disease and a molecule with dual activity in cancer development. J Immunol Res. 2014;2014:318481. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/318481

13. Keijzer C, van der Zee R, van Eden W, Broere F. Treg inducing adjuvants for therapeutic vaccination against chronic inflammatory diseases. Front Immunol. 2013;4:245. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00245</u>

14. Lopez M, Aguilera R, Perez C, Mendoza-Naranjo A, Pereda C, Ramirez M, et al. The role of regulatory T lymphocytes in the induced immune response mediated by biological vaccines. Immunobiology. 2006;211(1-2):127-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2005.11.003

15. Sakaguchi S, Miyara M, Costantino CM, Hafler DA. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the human immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(7):490-500. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2785

16. Verma R, Balakrishnan L, Sharma K, Khan AA, Advani J, Gowda H, et al. A network map of Interleukin-10 signaling pathway. J Cell Commun Signal. 2016;10(1):61-7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12079-015-0302-x

17. Vaz ER, Fujimura PT, Araujo GR, da Silva CA, Silva RL, Cunha TM, et al. A Short Peptide That Mimics the Binding Domain of TGF-beta1 Presents Potent Anti-Inflammatory Activity. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0136116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136116

18. Barbas CF. Phage display : a laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2001. 1 volume in various pagings p.

19. Russell WMS, Burch RL. The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen; 1959. 238 pages p.

20. Wallmann J, Proell M, Stepanoska T, Hantusch B, Pali-Scholl I, Thalhamer T, et al. A mimotope gene encoding the major IgE epitope of allergen Phl p 5 for epitope-specific immunization. Immunol Lett. 2009;122(1):68-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2008.12.002

21. Ota T, Aoki-Ota M, Duong BH, Nemazee D. Suppression of IgE B Cells and IgE Binding to Fc epsilon RI by Gene Therapy with Single-Chain Anti-IgE. Journal of Immunology. 2009;182(12):8110-7. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0900300

22. Taylor A, Verhagen J, Blaser K, Akdis M, Akdis CA. Mechanisms of immune suppression by interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta: the role of T regulatory cells. Immunology. 2006;117(4):433-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02321.x

23. Akdis CA, Blesken T, Akdis M, Wuthrich B, Blaser K. Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. 1998;102(1):98-106. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI2250 24. Punnonen J, Malefyt RD, Vanvlasselaer P, Gauchat JF, Devries JE. II-10 and Viral II-10 Prevent II-4-Induced Ige Synthesis by Inhibiting the Accessory Cell-Function of Monocytes. Journal of Immunology. 1993;151(3):1280-9.

25. Sonoda E, Matsumoto R, Hitoshi Y, Ishii T, Sugimoto M, Araki S, et al. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR beta INDUCES IgA PRODUCTION AND ACTS ADDITIVELY WITH INTERLEUKIN 5 FOR IgA PRODUCTION (Reprinted from Journal of Experimental Medicine, vol 170, pg 1415-1420, 1989). Journal of Immunology. 2009;182(1):14-9.

26. Paludan SR. Interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma: The quintessence of a mutual antagonistic relationship. Scand J Immunol. 1998;48(5):459-68. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3083.1998.00435.x

27. Snapper CM, Paul WE. Interferon-gamma and B cell stimulatory factor-1 reciprocally regulate lg isotype production. Science. 1987;236(4804):944-7. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3107127

28. Couper KN, Blount DG, Riley EM. IL-10: the master regulator of immunity to infection. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):5771-7. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.5771

29. lp WKE, Hoshi N, Shouval DS, Snapper S, Medzhitov R. Anti-inflammatory effect of IL-10 mediated by metabolic reprogramming of macrophages. Science. 2017;356(6337):513-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal3535</u>

# Conclusões

- A Metodologia de *Phage Display* é uma boa ferramenta para a seleção e isolamento de peptídeos imuno moduladores.
- Pep1 (IL-10-like CapítuloII) mostrou melhor capacidade em diminuir a expessão da via de NF-κB e TLR4, embora Pep 2 (IL-10-like – CapítuloII), em algumas concentrações, também tenha mostrado boa capacidade em regular ambas as vias analizadas.
- Pep 1 (IL-10-like CapítuloII) também foi capaz de reduzir a degranulação de basófilos, ativação de BMDCs e proliferação de células T, além de promover a diminuição de TNF-α, IL-6 e MCP-1 em macrófagos.
- A conformação e a sequência de peptídeos (TGF-β1-like CapítuloIII) são importantes para a ativação de TGFβRII e iniciação de uma resposta celular.
- Pep 1 e 2 (TGF-β1-like CapítuloIII) mostraram melhor capacidade em se ligar ao TGFβRII ativando a via dependente de SMAD.
- Pep 3, Pep 4, Pep 5, Pep 6, Pep 7 (TGF-β1-like CapítuloIII) possui grande interferência da via de sinalização SMAD independente, diminuindo a ativação de NF-κB após estímulo de TNF-α e LPS.
- Pep 1 juntamente com o Pep 2 (CapítuloIV) podem ser utilizados para o tratamento de uma resposta alérgica, promovendo uma resposta regulatória alérgeno específica.
- O tratamento proposto (CapítuloIV) pode ser uma nova estratégia de imunoterapia.
- Esta imunoterapia (CapítuloIV), pode melhorar a qualidade de tratamento por promover diminuição dos efeitos colaterais promovendo uma regulação específica da resposta alérgica.

# Perspectivas

Para melhor conhecimento sobre a ação dos peptídeos estudados, bem como do tratamento proposto algumas ações devem ser realizadas:

- Análise de bioinformática (*Docking*) para investigar quais aminoácidos, presente nos peptídeos e também nos receptores celulares, interagem durante a ativação celular.
- Investigar, por PCR em tempo real, quais genes são expressos após a ativação de vias celulares pela ação dos peptídeos.
- Analisar os efeitos da utilização dos peptídeos na produção de anticorpos, bem como indução de células Tregs e Bregs e ativação de diferentes células do sistema imunológico.
- Estudar a capacidade do tratamento proposto no controle de doenças aonde há um desbalanço da resposta inflamatória, como por exemplo, doenças auto-imunes.